Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: October 3, 2020 ACCEPTED: December 21, 2020 PUBLISHED: February 8, 2021

Quarkonium semiclassical transport in quark-gluon plasma: factorization and quantum correction

Xiaojun Yao^a and Thomas Mehen^b

^a Center for Theoretical Physics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02139, U.S.A.

^bDepartment of Physics, Duke University,

Durham, NC 27708, U.S.A.

E-mail: xjyao@mit.edu, mehen@phy.duke.edu

ABSTRACT: We study quarkonium transport in the quark-gluon plasma by using the potential nonrelativistic QCD (pNRQCD) effective field theory and the framework of open quantum systems. We argue that the coupling between quarkonium and the thermal bath is weak using separation of scales, so the initial density matrix of the total system factorizes and the time evolution of the subsystem is Markovian. We derive the semiclassical Boltzmann equation for quarkonium by applying a Wigner transform to the Lindblad equation and carrying out a semiclassical expansion. We resum relevant interactions to all orders in the coupling constant at leading power of the nonrelativistic and multipole expansions. The derivation is valid for both weakly coupled and strongly coupled quark-gluon plasmas. We find reaction rates in the transport equation factorize into a quarkonium dipole transition function and a chromoelectric gluon distribution function. For the differential reaction rate, the definition of the momentum dependent chromoelectric gluon distribution function involves staple-shaped Wilson lines. For the inclusive reaction rate, the Wilson lines collapse into a straight line along the real time axis and the distribution becomes momentum independent. The relation between the two Wilson lines is analogous to the relation between the Wilson lines appearing in the gluon parton distribution function (PDF) and the gluon transverse momentum dependent parton distribution function (TMDPDF). The centrality dependence of the quarkonium nuclear modification factor measured by experiments probes the momentum independent distribution while the transverse momentum dependence and measurements of the azimuthal angular anisotropy may be able to probe the momentum dependent one. We discuss one way to indirectly constrain the quarkonium in-medium real potential by using the factorization formula and lattice calculations. The leading quantum correction to the semiclassical transport equation of quarkonium is also worked out. The study can be easily generalized to quarkonium transport in cold nuclear matter, which is relevant for quarkonium production in eA collisions in the future Electron-Ion Collider.

KEYWORDS: Quark-Gluon Plasma, Effective Field Theories

ARXIV EPRINT: 2009.02408





Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Separation of scales and potential NRQCD	4
3	Open quantum systems	8
4	Transport equation and factorized rates	10
	4.1 Dissociation	10
	4.2 Recombination	13
	4.3 Semiclassical approximation in recombination	15
	4.4 Factorization of reaction rates	18
5	Quantum correction to semiclassical transport	21
6	Conclusions	22
\mathbf{A}	Gauge link at infinite time	24

1 Introduction

Heavy quarkonium has been used as a probe of the quark-gluon plasma (QGP) in heavy ion collisions for many years. The basic idea is the static screening effect in the hot plasma [1, 2]: the real part of the attractive potential between the heavy quark-antiquark pair $(Q\bar{Q})$ is significantly suppressed at high temperature and quarkonium "melts". Therefore, suppression of quarkonium production in heavy ion collisions can be used as a signature of the QGP formation. The melting temperature can be defined for each quarkonium state as the minimum temperature when the state becomes unbound in the plasma. Since all quarkonium states have varying sizes, they are influenced by the static screening differently and thus have distinct melting temperatures, ordered by their sizes (or binding energies). A sequential melting pattern is expected where shallower quarkonium states melt at lower temperatures.

However, the simple static screening picture is complicated by several other factors: cold nuclear matter effects, as well as quarkonium dissociation and recombination inside the plasma. One cold nuclear matter effect is the nuclear modification of parton distribution functions (PDF) inside heavy nuclei. Dissociation and recombination are hot medium effects. It has been shown that static screening and dissociation can be generated simultaneously from thermal loop correction to the quarkonium in-medium propagator [3, 4]. Thus if the static screening is included in the study, dissociation should also be taken into account for consistency. Furthermore, if a quarkonium state can still exist as a well-defined bound state above $T_c \sim 150 \text{ MeV}$, which is a rough estimate of the transition temperature from the QGP phase to the hadronic phase,¹ then (re)generation of this quarkonium state inside the QGP should also be possible [5]. It is expected that deeply bound states can start to (re)generate at high temperatures and do not have to wait until T_c , when light particles hadronize.

Quarkonium suppression has been intensively investigated in experiments at both the Relativistic Heavy Ion Collider (RHIC) and Large Hadron Collider (LHC). Semiclassical transport equations that account for static screening, dissociation and recombination [6– 20], as well as statistical hadronization models [21, 22], have been used to study quarkonium production in heavy ion collisions and achieved great success in phenomenology. Anisotropic effects in the QGP have also been explored [23-25]. Recently, we derived the semiclassical transport equations using nonrelativistic QCD in the potential regime and the open quantum system formalism. The validity of this approach relies on a hierarchy of scales: $M \gg Mv \gg Mv^2$, T, where M is the heavy quark mass, v is the velocity of the quarks in the quarkonium and T is the temperature of the plasma [26]. Long after quarkonium suppression was proposed as a diagnostic for the existence of the QGP, several other observables such as jet quenching and elliptic flow have been studied which more convincingly establish the existence of the QGP (see refs. [27–30] for recent reviews on each topic). We no longer need to use quarkonium as a probe to answer the question whether the QGP is formed in heavy ion collisions. Then the natural question to ask is what we can learn about the QGP from quarkonium measurements. Since now the hot medium effects contain static screening, dissociation and recombination, a simple answer seems implausible.

In deep inelastic scattering (DIS), electrons are shot onto protons to probe the inner structure of proton. The reason why this works is the possibility of constructing factorization theorems in certain kinematic limits (for a general discussion of factorization, see ref. [31]). These factorization theorems express physical observables as convolutions of perturbatively calculable cross sections with parton distribution functions (PDF) that can be expressed as matrix elements of operators within the proton state. Thus measurements of these cross sections determine specific correlation functions within the proton. Furthermore, different observables can probe different kinds of parton distributions of the proton. Studying these distributions such as the transverse momentum dependent (TMD) PDF will be among the central scientific goals of the future Electron-Ion Collider.

This then leads us to ask: what correlation functions are measured when we study the production of quarkonium within the QGP? The same question could be asked of quarkonium production within, say, cold nuclear matter. We will use effective field theory (EFT) and the open quantum system framework to answer this question. For processes involving light-like partons, Soft-Collinear Effective Theory has been widely applied to study factorization in various processes [32–42]. In our case since the quarkonium is nonrelativistic we will use potential nonrelativistic QCD (potential NRQCD or pNRQCD) [43–45]. This

 $^{^{1}}$ The transition is smooth at zero baryon chemical potential. So the 150 MeV is just a rough estimate. In reality, the transition may happen in a range of tens of MeV in temperature.

EFT has been used to study static screening and dissociation [46–48]. Also, it has been used in a Lindblad equation to define a transport coefficient of quarkonium [49]. New developments of nonrelativistic EFT for quarkonium can be found in refs. [50, 51]. The open quantum system framework describes the dynamics of a subsystem, interacting with an environment. When the environment is traced over, the subsystem evolves as an open system. The open quantum system framework has been recently applied to study quarkonium transport in the QGP [26, 52–65] and provides new insight to our understanding of quarkonium transport. The open quantum system approach can be thought of as an extension of the Schrödinger equation with a complex potential [66, 67] and it takes into account both correlated and uncorrelated recombination consistently. The difference between correlated and uncorrelated recombination is discussed in ref. [68].

We will derive the semiclassical Boltzmann equation for quarkonium in the QGP by applying a Wigner transform (a Gaussian smearing is required for sustaining positivity) to the Lindblad equation, which is the evolution equation for the open system. The interaction between quarkonium (subsystem) and the thermal QGP (environment) is weak according to the power counting of pNRQCD under the assumed hierarchy. Therefore the density matrix of the total system can be assumed to factorize into the density matrix of the subsystem and that of the environment. Furthermore, in the weak coupling (between the subsystem and the environment) limit, the time evolution of the subsystem can be shown to be Markovian. We will work to leading order in the power counting parameter of pNRQCD but resum interactions to all orders in the strong coupling constant, which can be written in terms of Wilson lines. We will show that the reaction rates in the Boltzmann equation factorize into a quarkonium dipole transition function and a chromoelectric gluon distribution function of the thermal QGP. For the differential reaction rate, the chromoelectric gluon distribution function is momentum dependent and has spatially separated chromoelectric fields connected via a staple-shaped Wilson line extending to the time infinity. For the inclusive reaction rate, the function is momentum independent and the Wilson line collapses into a straight timelike line of finite length. The structures of the Wilson lines are very similar to the case of gluon TMDPDF and gluon PDF, respectively, except that here the Wilson lines lie along a timelike direction rather than the lightcone. The momentum independent chromoelectric gluon distribution function has been studied in ref. [49] as one quarkonium transport coefficient and in refs. [69, 70] as the heavy quark diffusion coefficient. A recent lattice calculation of the heavy quark diffusion coefficient can be found in ref. [71]. What is new in this paper is the definition and discussion of the momentum dependent chromoelectric structure function. We will discuss one application of the factorized rate to constrain the in-medium real potential between a QQ pair. A point of emphasis is that the factorization of the reaction rate crucially depends on the factorization of the density matrix into the subsystem density matrix and the environment density matrix. This is generally believed to be true in the weak coupling limit, where the weak coupling is between the subsystem and the environment. The subsystem and the environment themselves can be strongly coupled.

This paper extends our earlier work [26] which derived semiclassical transport equations from pNRQCD and the open quantum system formalism. Major improvements compared to ref. [26] include:

- We resum the A_0 interaction and the interaction mediated by Coulomb modes between the octet $Q\bar{Q}$ state and the thermal QGP. This allows us to define the chromoelectric gluon distribution function nonperturbatively and construct the factorization. The derivation of ref. [26] only works for a weakly coupled QGP while the derivation we show here is also valid for a strongly coupled QGP. A formalism compatible with a strongly coupled QGP is crucial for phenomenological studies of the future experiments at RHIC and LHC, especially the one carried out by the sPHENIX collaboration since the plasma temperature achieved at RHIC is not very high.
- We carry out a systematic semiclassical expansion for the recombination term. For dissociation, no semiclassical expansion is needed. The semiclassical expansion is a gradient expansion. We work out the leading quantum correction to the semiclassical Boltzmann equation.

The paper is organized as follows: in section 2, we will discuss the hierarchy of scales in the problem and briefly explain pNRQCD with a focus on the power counting. Then in section 3, a short introduction to the open quantum system framework will be given. Derivation of the semiclassical Boltzmann equation will be elucidated in detail in section 4. Factorization of the reaction rates will also be discussed there. We will derive the leading quantum correction to the Boltzmann equation in section 5. Finally, we will summarize and draw conclusions in section 6.

2 Separation of scales and potential NRQCD

We consider the following hierarchy of scales: $M \gg Mv \gg Mv^2$, T, Λ_{QCD} , where M is the heavy quark mass, v is the typical relative velocity between the heavy quark pair inside quarkonium, T is the temperature of the medium and $\Lambda_{\rm QCD}$ is the nonperturbative scale of QCD. In vacuum, $M \gg Mv \gg Mv^2$ is the standard separation of scales for nonrelativistic heavy quarks [72]. For both charmonium and bottomonium, $Mv^2 \sim 500$ MeV. In current heavy ion collision experiments, $T \sim 500 \,\text{MeV}$ is roughly the highest temperature achieved in the early stage of the medium expansion. Naively, we would expect $Mv^2 \gtrsim T$ to be approximately valid during the whole lifetime of QGP. But due to the static plasma screening, the binding energy decreases as the temperature increases, and $Mv^2 \sim 500 \text{ MeV}$ is probably no longer true except for the bottomonium ground state at $T \sim 500$ MeV. So we do not specify the hierarchy between Mv^2 and T. However, we still believe $Mv \gg$ T is a relevant hierarchy for quarkonium transport. The reason is the following: when the temperature is high and the quarkonium size is large, this hierarchy $Mv \gg T$ may be violated and the interaction between the heavy quark pair is significantly suppressed. Loosely bound quarkonium states at such a high temperature, even if they exist in the medium, are no longer well-defined bound states, the dissociation rate is very large and formation is ineffective and can be neglected. The state of the heavy quark and antiquark will be more like two open heavy quarks and their dynamics is governed by the transport of

open heavy flavors rather than the transport of quarkonium. Only when the QGP expands and the temperature drops, does the quarkonium formation become effective and transport become applicable. At the end of the QGP expansion when hadronization starts to occur, the temperature is about $T_c \sim 150 \text{ MeV}$ and every quarkonium state should regain their vacuum properties. Therefore, the hierarchy $M \gg Mv \gg Mv^2$, T, Λ_{QCD} should be valid for ground and lower excited quarkonium states in the later stage of the QGP expansion, when the formation of these states becomes effective.

Under the separation of scales $M \gg Mv \gg Mv^2$, T, $\Lambda_{\rm QCD}$, one can construct an effective field theory of QCD, pNRQCD, by systematic nonrelativistic expansion in v and multipole expansion in $rT \sim \frac{T}{Mv}$, where r is the typical size of a quarkonium state.² In our assumed hierarchy of scales, the effective field theory can be constructed perturbatively at the scale Mv. The Lagrangian can be written as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{pNRQCD}} = \int d^3 r \operatorname{Tr} \left(S^{\dagger} (i\partial_0 - H_s) S + O^{\dagger} (iD_0 - H_o) O + V_A (O^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{r} \cdot \boldsymbol{g} \boldsymbol{E} S + \text{h.c.}) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{V_B}{2} O^{\dagger} \{ \boldsymbol{r} \cdot \boldsymbol{g} \boldsymbol{E}, O \} + \cdots \right) + \mathcal{L}_{\text{light quark}} + \mathcal{L}_{\text{gluon}},$$
(2.1)

where higher order terms in the expansion are neglected. We will work at leading power in the nonrelativistic and multipole expansions throughout the paper. Here $E = E^A T^A$ (A is the adjoint color index) represents the chromoelectric field and $D_0 O = \partial_0 O - ig[A_0, O]$. The gluon and light quark parts are just QCD with momenta $\leq Mv$. The matching coefficients are $V_A = V_B = 1$ at lowest order in the coupling constant at the scale Mv. The composite fields for the quarkonia are the color singlet $S(\mathbf{R}, \mathbf{r}, t)$ and color octet $O(\mathbf{R}, \mathbf{r}, t)$ where R denotes the center-of-mass (c.m.) position and r the relative coordinate. The composite fields here are constructed by projecting onto the proper color space, a heavy quark field and a heavy antiquark field at the same time, connected by a spatial Wilson line. We will assume the medium is invariant under translation so the existence of the medium does not break the separation into the c.m. and relative motions. H_s and H_o denote the color singlet and octet Hamiltonians of the relative motion. At leading order in the nonrelativistic expansion, $H_{s,o} = -\frac{\nabla_r^2}{M} + V_{s,o}(\mathbf{r})$, where $V_{s,o}$ are the singlet and octet potentials and are attractive and repulsive, respectively. So only a color singlet $Q\bar{Q}$ pair can be bound. Both potentials are spin independent. Thus the pNRQCD Lagrangian is invariant under heavy quark spin symmetry and we will ignore spin quantum numbers in this paper. In the v expansion, the Fock state $|Q\bar{Q}g\rangle$ of quarkonium, in which the $Q\bar{Q}$ pair is a color octet state, is suppressed by at least v^2 in probability with respect to the leading Fock state $|Q\bar{Q}\rangle$ in which the $Q\bar{Q}$ pair is a color singlet state. Therefore, at leading order in the v expansion, which is the order we are working, quarkonium can only be a color singlet $Q\bar{Q}$ pair. Furthermore, the QGP is a deconfined phase of QCD, where light quarks and gluons are liberated. Thus it is reasonable to assume no gluon can be bound with an octet QQ pair.

²When $T \sim Mv^2$, the multipole expansion is equivalent to the nonrelativistic expansion. Then v is only power counting parameter.

For our construction that is at leading power in v and rT but resummed to all orders in $\alpha_s(Mv^2, T)$, we do the following redefinitions:

$$O(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{r}, t) \rightarrow W_{[(\boldsymbol{R}, t), (\boldsymbol{R}, t_L)]} \widetilde{O}(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{r}, t) (W_{[(\boldsymbol{R}, t), (\boldsymbol{R}, t_R)]})^{\dagger}$$

= $W_{[(\boldsymbol{R}, t), (\boldsymbol{R}, t_L)]} \widetilde{O}(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{r}, t) W_{[(\boldsymbol{R}, t_R), (\boldsymbol{R}, t)]},$ (2.2)

where the Wilson line in the fundamental representation is defined by

$$W_{[(\boldsymbol{R},t_f),(\boldsymbol{R},t_i)]} = \mathcal{P} \exp\left(ig \int_{t_i}^{t_f} \mathrm{d}s A_0(\boldsymbol{R},s)\right),\tag{2.3}$$

in which the path is a straight line from (\mathbf{R}, t_i) to (\mathbf{R}, t_f) . In eq. (2.2), t_L and t_R are choices of the end points. If we want \tilde{O} to be invariant under a gauge transformation (i.e., to behave like a singlet operator), we need to set $t_L = t_R \equiv t_0$ to guarantee that both the left and right sides of eq. (2.2) transform in the same way under a gauge transformation. Then we can write eq. (2.2) in a simpler form by using Wilson lines in the adjoint representation

$$O(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{r}, t) \to \mathcal{W}_{[(\boldsymbol{R}, t), (\boldsymbol{R}, t_0)]} O(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{r}, t),$$
 (2.4)

where $\mathcal{W}_{[(\mathbf{R},t),(\mathbf{R},t_0)]}$ denotes a Wilson line in the adjoint representation that has a straight path from (\mathbf{R},t_0) to (\mathbf{R},t) . So far t_0 is an arbitrary constant, but later we will follow arguments given in ref. [73] and show the results are independent of the choice of t_0 . Now we can simplify the octet kinetic term

$$D_0 O(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{r}, t) = \partial_0 O(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{r}, t) - igA_0(\boldsymbol{R}, t)O(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{r}, t) + igO(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{r}, t)A_0(\boldsymbol{R}, t)$$

$$= W_{[(\boldsymbol{R}, t), (\boldsymbol{R}, t_0)]} \partial_0 \widetilde{O}(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{r}, t)W_{[(\boldsymbol{R}, t_0), (\boldsymbol{R}, t)]}$$

$$= \mathcal{W}_{[(\boldsymbol{R}, t), (\boldsymbol{R}, t_0)]} \partial_0 \widetilde{O}(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{r}, t).$$
(2.5)

The octet kinetic term can then be rewritten as

$$\int d^3 r \operatorname{Tr} \left(\widetilde{O}^{\dagger} (i\partial_0 - H_o) \widetilde{O} \right).$$
(2.6)

The new dipole interaction between the singlet and octet is given by

$$g \int \mathrm{d}^{3} r \mathrm{Tr} \left(\widetilde{\mathrm{O}}^{\dagger} r_{i} \mathcal{W}_{[(\boldsymbol{R},t_{0}),(\boldsymbol{R},t)]} E_{i} \mathrm{S} + \mathrm{S}^{\dagger} r_{i} E_{i} \mathcal{W}_{[(\boldsymbol{R},t),(\boldsymbol{R},t_{0})]} \widetilde{\mathrm{O}} \right).$$
(2.7)

If we define

$$\widetilde{E}_{i}(\boldsymbol{R},t) \equiv \mathcal{W}_{[(\boldsymbol{R},t_{0}),(\boldsymbol{R},t)]}E_{i}(\boldsymbol{R},t)$$
(2.8)

$$\widetilde{E}_{i}^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{R},t) \equiv E_{i}(\boldsymbol{R},t) \mathcal{W}_{[(\boldsymbol{R},t),(\boldsymbol{R},t_{0})]}, \qquad (2.9)$$

the dipole interaction term can be written as

$$g \int d^3 r \operatorname{Tr} \left(\widetilde{O}^{\dagger} r_i \widetilde{E}_i S + S^{\dagger} r_i \widetilde{E}_i^{\dagger} \widetilde{O} \right).$$
(2.10)

For later convenience, we introduce the "bra-ket" notation:

$$\langle \boldsymbol{r}|S(\boldsymbol{R},t)\rangle \equiv S(\boldsymbol{R},\boldsymbol{r},t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N_c}}S(\boldsymbol{R},\boldsymbol{r},t)$$
 (2.11)

$$\boldsymbol{r}|O^{A}(\boldsymbol{R},t)\rangle \equiv O^{A}(\boldsymbol{R},\boldsymbol{r},t) = \frac{1}{T_{F}} \operatorname{Tr}[T^{A}O(\boldsymbol{R},\boldsymbol{r},t)]$$
 (2.12)

$$|\tilde{O}^{A}(\boldsymbol{R},t)\rangle \equiv \tilde{O}^{A}(\boldsymbol{R},\boldsymbol{r},t) = \frac{1}{T_{F}} \operatorname{Tr}[T^{A}\tilde{O}(\boldsymbol{R},\boldsymbol{r},t)]$$
 (2.13)

$$\langle S(\boldsymbol{R},t)|f(\boldsymbol{r})|\tilde{O}^{A}(\boldsymbol{R},t)\rangle \equiv \int \mathrm{d}^{3}r S^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{R},\boldsymbol{r},t)f(\boldsymbol{r})\tilde{O}^{A}(\boldsymbol{R},\boldsymbol{r},t)\,,\qquad(2.14)$$

for any function f of \mathbf{r} . At the current leading power calculation, we will use $f(\mathbf{r}) = r_i$ where i = x, y, z. Here $N_c = 3$ and $T_F = \frac{1}{2}$, which is defined by $\text{Tr}[T^A T^B] = T_F \delta^{AB}$. For later use, we define $C_F = \frac{N_c^2 - 1}{2N_c}$. The quantization of the fields is given by

$$|S(\boldsymbol{R},t)\rangle = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} e^{-i(Et-\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}}\cdot\boldsymbol{R})} \left(\sum_{nl} a_{nl}(\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}}) \otimes |\psi_{nl}\rangle + \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} b_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}}(\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}}) \otimes |\psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}}\rangle\right)$$
$$\tilde{O}^{A}(\boldsymbol{R},t)\rangle = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} e^{-i(Et-\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}}\cdot\boldsymbol{R})} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} c_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}}^{A}(\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}}) \otimes |\Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}}\rangle, \qquad (2.15)$$

where E is the eigenenergy of a state that will be explained below. The operators $a_{nl}^{(\dagger)}(\mathbf{p}_{cm})$, $b_{\mathbf{p}_{rel}}^{(\dagger)}(\mathbf{p}_{cm})$ and $c_{\mathbf{p}_{rel}}^{A(\dagger)}(\mathbf{p}_{cm})$ act on the Fock space to annihilate (create) composite particles with the c.m. momentum \mathbf{p}_{cm} and the corresponding quantum numbers in the relative motion. These quantum numbers can be nl for bound singlet states, \mathbf{p}_{rel} for unbound singlet states and color A and \mathbf{p}_{rel} for unbound octet states. When we compute the matrix elements, we will average over the polarizations of non-S wave quarkonium states. So in our notation, we omit the quantum number m_l of the bound singlet state. In the octet channel no bound state exists because of the repulsive octet potential. The corresponding wavefunctions of the relative motion are $|\psi_{nl}\rangle$ and $|\psi_{\mathbf{p}_{rel}}\rangle$ for color-singlet states and $|\Psi_{\mathbf{p}_{rel}}\rangle$ for color-octet states. They can be obtained by solving the equations of motion of the free composite fields, which are Schrödinger equations. The eigenenergies are $E = -|E_{nl}|$ and $E = \frac{\mathbf{p}_{rel}^2}{M}$ for the bound and unbound states, respectively, with higher order terms in vneglected. Here E_{nl} is the binding energy of the bound state $|\psi_{nl}\rangle$.

The dissociation and recombination of quarkonium occur via the dipole interaction between the color singlet and octet states. As explained above, quarkonium is treated as a color singlet $Q\bar{Q}$ pair in this work, consistent with the leading power (in v) calculation. The dipole vertex scales as rT where $r \sim \frac{1}{Mv}$ is the typical quarkonium size and T is the typical energy and momentum scale of excitations in the plasma (the excitation energy and momentum comes from the derivative in the chromoelectric field). In our assumed hierarchy $Mv \gg T$, the dipole vertex between the singlet and octet states scales as $rT \ll 1$. Thus, the interaction between quarkonium and the medium is weak. This argument is about the weak coupling between quarkonium and the QGP and is valid even if quarkonium and the QGP are strongly coupled themselves.

3 Open quantum systems

In this section, we briefly introduce the framework of open quantum systems. We consider a total system consisting of a subsystem and an environment (thermal bath). The total Hamiltonian is given by

$$H = H_S + H_E + H_I \,, \tag{3.1}$$

where H_S is the subsystem Hamiltonian, H_E is the environment Hamiltonian, and H_I contains the interactions between the subsystem and the environment. The interaction Hamiltonian is assumed to be factorized as follows: $H_I = \sum_{\alpha} O_{\alpha}^{(S)} \otimes O_{\alpha}^{(E)}$ where α denotes all quantum numbers. (For local quantum field theory, this is generally true and α includes the spatial coordinates.) The operators $O_{\alpha}^{(S)}$ are of the subsystem while $O_{\alpha}^{(E)}$ are of the environment. We can assume $\langle O_{\alpha}^{(E)} \rangle \equiv \text{Tr}_E(O_{\alpha}^{(E)}\rho_E) = 0$ because we can redefine $O_{\alpha}^{(E)}$ and H_S by $O_{\alpha}^{(E)} - \langle O_{\alpha}^{(E)} \rangle$ and $H_S + \sum_{\alpha} O_{\alpha}^{(S)} \langle O_{\alpha}^{(E)} \rangle$ respectively. Here ρ_E is the density matrix of the environment. Each part of the Hamiltonian is assumed to be Hermitian.

The von Neumann equation for the time evolution of the density matrix in the interaction picture is given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\rho^{(\mathrm{int})}(t)}{\mathrm{d}t} = -i[H_I^{(\mathrm{int})}(t), \rho^{(\mathrm{int})}(t)].$$
(3.2)

We will omit the superscript "(int)" in the following. The symbolic solution is given by

$$\rho(t) = U(t,0)\rho(0)U^{\dagger}(t,0), \qquad (3.3)$$

where the evolution operator is

$$U(t,0) = \mathcal{T}e^{-i\int_0^t H_I(t')\,\mathrm{d}t'},\tag{3.4}$$

and \mathcal{T} is the time-ordering operator. The starting time t = 0 is arbitrary in the Markovian limit. So for later convenience, we will shift the starting time to -t/2 and obtain

$$\rho\left(\frac{t}{2}\right) = U\left(\frac{t}{2}, \frac{-t}{2}\right)\rho\left(\frac{-t}{2}\right)U^{\dagger}\left(\frac{t}{2}, \frac{-t}{2}\right).$$
(3.5)

We will assume the subsystem and the environment are weakly interacting. This is valid for quarkonium inside the QGP with the hierarchy of scales $M \gg Mv \gg$ Mv^2 , T, $\Lambda_{\rm QCD}$ because the heavy quark pair interacts with the medium chromoelectric field via the dipole interaction, which scales as $rT \sim \frac{T}{Mv} \ll 1$. Then we can assume the initial density matrix factorizes

$$\rho\left(\frac{-t}{2}\right) = \rho_S\left(\frac{-t}{2}\right) \otimes \rho_E,$$
(3.6)

which is generally true for weakly coupled systems (factorization breaking terms come at higher orders in the coupling). The environment density matrix is assumed to be in thermal equilibrium thus $\rho_E = \frac{1}{Z}e^{-\beta H_E}$ where $\beta = 1/T$, and is time-independent. We will use $\langle O^{(E)} \rangle_T$ to denote $\operatorname{Tr}_E[O^{(E)} \rho_E]$ from now on, where the subscript T indicates the environment is a thermal bath at temperature T. If we expand the interaction to second order in perturbation (which corresponds to leading power in rT) and take the partial trace over the environment degrees of freedom, we obtain the Lindblad equation:

$$\rho_S\left(\frac{t}{2}\right) = \rho_S\left(\frac{-t}{2}\right) - i\sum_{a,b}\sigma_{ab}(t)\left[L_{ab},\rho_S\left(\frac{-t}{2}\right)\right] + \sum_{a,b,c,d}\gamma_{ab,cd}(t)\left(L_{ab}\rho_S\left(\frac{-t}{2}\right)L_{cd}^{\dagger} - \frac{1}{2}\left\{L_{cd}^{\dagger}L_{ab},\rho_S\left(\frac{-t}{2}\right)\right\}\right) + \mathcal{O}(H_I^3).$$
(3.7)

Each term is defined as

$$L_{ab} \equiv |a\rangle\langle b| \tag{3.8}$$

$$\sigma_{ab}(t) \equiv \frac{-i}{2} \sum_{\alpha,\beta} \int_{\frac{-t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d}t_1 \int_{\frac{-t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d}t_2 \mathrm{Tr}_E \Big[\mathrm{sign}(t_1 - t_2) \langle a | O_{\alpha}^{(S)}(t_1) O_{\beta}^{(S)}(t_2) | b \rangle C_{\alpha\beta}(t_1, t_2) \Big]$$
(3.9)

$$\gamma_{ab,cd}(t) \equiv \sum_{\alpha,\beta} \int_{\frac{-t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d}t_1 \int_{\frac{-t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d}t_2 \mathrm{Tr}_E \Big[\langle d | O_{\alpha}^{(S)}(t_1) | c \rangle \langle a | O_{\beta}^{(S)}(t_2) | b \rangle C_{\alpha\beta}(t_1, t_2) \Big]$$
(3.10)

$$C_{\alpha\beta}(t_1, t_2) \equiv O_{\alpha}^{(E)}(t_1) O_{\beta}^{(E)}(t_2) \rho_E , \qquad (3.11)$$

where $\{|a\rangle\}$ forms a complete set of states in the Hilbert space of the subsystem. We can choose them to be the set of eigenstates of H_S .

To calculate these in pNRQCD at finite temperature, we need the following dictionary:

$$O_{\alpha}^{(S)} \to \langle S(\boldsymbol{R},t) | r_i | \tilde{O}^A(\boldsymbol{R},t) \rangle, \quad \langle \tilde{O}^A(\boldsymbol{R},t) | r_i | S(\boldsymbol{R},t) \rangle$$
(3.12)

$$O_{\alpha}^{(E)} \to g \sqrt{\frac{T_F}{N_c}} \widetilde{E}_i^{A\dagger}(\boldsymbol{R}, t), \quad g \sqrt{\frac{T_F}{N_c}} \widetilde{E}_i^A(\boldsymbol{R}, t)$$

$$(3.13)$$

$$\sum_{\alpha} \to \int \mathrm{d}^3 R \sum_i \sum_A \,, \tag{3.14}$$

where i = x, y, z is the spatial component and the superscript A denotes the adjoint color index. The complete set of states $|a\rangle$ in pNRQCD is

$$|\mathbf{k}, nl, 1\rangle = a_{nl}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k})|0\rangle \tag{3.15}$$

$$|\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}, 1\rangle = b^{\dagger}_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}}(\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}})|0\rangle$$
 (3.16)

$$|\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm rel}, A\rangle(t) = c_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm rel}}^{B\dagger}(\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm cm}) \mathcal{W}_{[t_0, t]}^{BA} |0\rangle, \qquad (3.17)$$

where the label 1 means the state is a color singlet while A means the state is in a specific color octet state. Since the redefined octet field is dressed with a Wilson line, eq. (3.17) contains a Wilson line for the octet state created by the original octet field $|\mathbf{p}_{\rm cm}, \mathbf{p}_{\rm rel}, A\rangle(t)$, where $c_{\mathbf{p}_{\rm rel}}^{B\dagger}(\mathbf{p}_{\rm cm})$ is creation operator for the redefined octet field.

With these preparations, we are ready to derive the semiclassical transport equation and construct factorized reaction rates.

4 Transport equation and factorized rates

We will first sketch the derivation of the semiclassical transport equation and then explain it in detail. The semiclassical transport equation for quarkonium can be obtained from the Lindblad equation by first making the Markovian approximation, which is valid when the environment correlation time is much smaller than the subsystem relaxation time. The Markovian approximation is generally true when the subsystem interacts weakly with the environment. The environment correlation time is given by $\sim 1/T$ while the subsystem relaxation time can be estimated as $\sim \frac{1}{(rT)^2T} \sim \frac{(Mv)^2}{T^3}$, where we use the dipole interaction between quarkonium and the medium as the relaxation process. It can be seen that the Markovian approximation is valid in our power counting. Under the Markovian approximation, the Lindblad equation (3.7) in the Schrödinger picture when t is small turns to [26]

$$f_{nl}\left(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{k},\frac{t}{2}\right) = f_{nl}\left(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{k},\frac{-t}{2}\right) \\ -t\frac{\boldsymbol{k}}{2M} \cdot \nabla_{\boldsymbol{x}} f_{nl}\left(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{k},\frac{-t}{2}\right) + t\mathcal{C}_{nl}^{+}\left(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{k},\frac{-t}{2}\right) - t\mathcal{C}_{nl}^{-}\left(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{k},\frac{-t}{2}\right), \quad (4.1)$$

if a Wigner transform is applied to the subsystem density matrix³

$$f_{nl}(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{k},t) \equiv \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}k'}{(2\pi)^{3}} e^{i\boldsymbol{k}'\cdot\boldsymbol{x}} \left\langle \boldsymbol{k} + \frac{\boldsymbol{k}'}{2}, nl, 1 \middle| \rho_{S}(t) \middle| \boldsymbol{k} - \frac{\boldsymbol{k}'}{2}, nl, 1 \right\rangle.$$
(4.2)

Dividing (4.1) by t and taking the limit $t \to 0$, we obtain the Boltzmann transport equation at t = 0. Since the starting time is arbitrary, we interpret a similar equation at an arbitrary time t as

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}f_{nl}(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{k},t) + \frac{\boldsymbol{k}}{2M} \cdot \nabla_{\boldsymbol{x}}f_{nl}(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{k},t) = \mathcal{C}_{nl}^{+}(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{k},t) - \mathcal{C}_{nl}^{-}(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{k},t) \,. \tag{4.3}$$

The Boltzmann equation describes the phase-space evolution of the quarkonium state with the quantum number nl. To solve this equation, one needs to couple it with transport equations for unbound singlet and octet $Q\bar{Q}$'s, since the recombination term depends on the distribution of unbound $Q\bar{Q}$'s (see section 4.3).

In eqs. (4.1), (4.3), the free streaming term $-\frac{k}{2M} \cdot \nabla_{\boldsymbol{x}} f_{nl}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{k}, t)$ comes from the von-Newmann evolution of the density matrix in the Schrödinger picture, i.e., $-i[H_S + \sum_{a,b} \sigma_{ab} L_{ab}, \rho_S]$. This has been explained in ref. [26] in detail, and will not be repeated here. We will explain the dissociation \mathcal{C}_{nl}^- and recombination \mathcal{C}_{nl}^+ collision terms in the following. In the derivation of \mathcal{C}_{nl}^+ , a semiclassical expansion will also be used.

4.1 Dissociation

We will first work out the dissociation term C_{nl}^- from $\sum_{a,b,c,d} \gamma_{ab,cd}(t) L_{cd}^{\dagger} L_{ab} \rho_S(-t/2)$. When we sandwich it between $\langle \mathbf{k}_1, nl, 1 \rangle$ and $|\mathbf{k}_2, nl, 1 \rangle$, as in the Wigner transform (4.2), we find

 $^{^{3}}$ The phase space distribution defined in this way is not generally positive-definite, but one can make it positive-definite by a Gaussian smearing.

the state $|d\rangle$ in L_{cd}^{\dagger} must be $|\mathbf{k}_1, nl, 1\rangle$ and $|c\rangle = |a\rangle$. Since at the order we are working, the only vertex that couples the color singlet state and the environment is the singlet-octet dipole interaction, we must have $|c\rangle = |a\rangle = |\mathbf{p}_{cm}, \mathbf{p}_{rel}, A\rangle(t/2)$ where the A denotes the color of the octet state. By the same argument, we find $|b\rangle = |\mathbf{k}_3, n'l', 1\rangle$. So we need to compute

$$\sum_{a,b,c,d} \gamma_{ab,cd}(t) L_{cd}^{\dagger} L_{ab} \rho_{S} \left(\frac{-t}{2}\right)$$

$$= g^{2} \frac{T_{F}}{N_{c}} \sum_{n',l'} \sum_{A,B_{1},B_{2}} \sum_{i_{1},i_{2}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{cm}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} k_{3}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \int \mathrm{d}^{3} R_{1} \int \mathrm{d}^{3} R_{2} \int_{-\frac{t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d} t_{1} \int_{-\frac{t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d} t_{2}$$

$$\times \mathrm{Tr}_{E} \Big[\langle \mathbf{k}_{1}, nl, 1 | \langle S(\mathbf{R}_{1}, t_{1}) | r_{i_{1}} | \widetilde{O}^{B_{1}}(\mathbf{R}_{1}, t_{1}) \rangle | \mathbf{p}_{\mathrm{cm}}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}, A \rangle$$

$$\times \langle \mathbf{p}_{\mathrm{cm}}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}, A | \langle \widetilde{O}^{B_{2}}(\mathbf{R}_{2}, t_{2}) | r_{i_{2}} | S(\mathbf{R}_{2}, t_{2}) \rangle | \mathbf{k}_{3}, n'l', 1 \rangle$$

$$\times \widetilde{E}_{i_{1}}^{\dagger B_{1}}(\mathbf{R}_{1}, t_{1}) \widetilde{E}_{i_{2}}^{B_{2}}(\mathbf{R}_{2}, t_{2}) \rho_{E} \Big] \langle \mathbf{k}_{3}, n'l', 1 | \rho_{S} \left(\frac{-t}{2}\right) | \mathbf{k}_{2}, nl, 1 \rangle .$$

$$(4.4)$$

Under the Markovian approximation, we can set the upper limits of the two time integrals to infinity $t \to +\infty$.⁴ Then the octet state $|\mathbf{p}_{cm}, \mathbf{p}_{rel}, A\rangle(t/2)$ can be thought of as an "asymptotic" outgoing state, which is defined at $t \to +\infty$ by the original octet field creation operator O^A . Using eqs. (2.4), (2.15), (3.15), (3.17), we find

$$\langle \boldsymbol{k}_{1}, nl, 1 | \langle S(\boldsymbol{R}_{1}, t_{1}) | r_{i_{1}} | \tilde{O}^{B_{1}}(\boldsymbol{R}_{1}, t_{1}) \rangle | \boldsymbol{p}_{cm}, \boldsymbol{p}_{rel}, A \rangle$$

$$= e^{i(E_{nl}t_{1} - \boldsymbol{k}_{1} \cdot \boldsymbol{R}_{1})} e^{-i(E_{p}t_{1} - \boldsymbol{p}_{cm} \cdot \boldsymbol{R}_{1})} \mathcal{W}^{B_{1}A}_{[(\boldsymbol{R}_{1}, t_{0}), (\boldsymbol{R}_{1}, t/2)]} \langle \psi_{nl} | r_{i_{1}} | \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{rel}} \rangle, \quad (4.5)$$

where $E_p = (\boldsymbol{p}_{rel})^2 / M$. Similarly,

$$\langle \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm rel}, A | \langle \tilde{O}^{B_2}(\boldsymbol{R}_2, t_2) | r_{i_2} | S(\boldsymbol{R}_2, t_2) \rangle | \boldsymbol{k}_3, n'l', 1 \rangle$$

$$= e^{i(E_p t_2 - \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm cm} \cdot \boldsymbol{R}_2)} e^{-i(E_{n'l'} t_2 - \boldsymbol{k}_3 \cdot \boldsymbol{R}_2)} \mathcal{W}^{AB_2}_{[(\boldsymbol{R}_2, t/2), (\boldsymbol{R}_2, t_0)]} \langle \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm rel}} | r_{i_2} | \psi_{n'l'} \rangle.$$
(4.6)

Plugging everything into eq. (4.4) gives

$$g^{2} \frac{T_{F}}{N_{c}} \sum_{n',l'} \sum_{A,B_{1},B_{2}} \sum_{i_{1},i_{2}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{cm}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} k_{3}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \int \mathrm{d}^{3} R_{1} \int \mathrm{d}^{3} R_{2} \int_{\frac{-t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d} t_{1} \int_{\frac{-t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d} t_{2} \\ \times e^{i(E_{nl}t_{1}-\boldsymbol{k}_{1}\cdot\boldsymbol{R}_{1})-i(E_{p}t_{1}-\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}}\cdot\boldsymbol{R}_{1})} e^{-i(E_{n'l'}t_{2}-\boldsymbol{k}_{3}\cdot\boldsymbol{R}_{2})+i(E_{p}t_{2}-\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}}\cdot\boldsymbol{R}_{2})} \\ \times \mathrm{Tr}_{E} \Big[\mathcal{W}_{[(\boldsymbol{R}_{1},t_{0}),(\boldsymbol{R}_{1},t/2)]}^{B_{1}A} \mathcal{W}_{[(\boldsymbol{R}_{2},t/2),(\boldsymbol{R}_{2},t_{0})]}^{AB_{2}} \widetilde{E}_{i_{1}}^{\dagger B_{1}}(\boldsymbol{R}_{1},t_{1}) \widetilde{E}_{i_{2}}^{B_{2}}(\boldsymbol{R}_{2},t_{2}) \rho_{E} \Big] \\ \times \langle \psi_{nl}|r_{i_{1}}|\Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}}\rangle \langle \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}}|r_{i_{2}}|\psi_{n'l'}\rangle \Big\langle \boldsymbol{k}_{3},n'l',1|\rho_{S}\left(\frac{-t}{2}\right)|\boldsymbol{k}_{2},nl,1\Big\rangle.$$

$$(4.7)$$

Together with the redefined chromoelectric fields (2.8), (2.9), the term inside the partial trace over the environment degrees of freedom can be written as (in the Markovian limit

⁴The limit $t \to +\infty$ in the time integral and the limit $t \to 0$ when we obtained (4.3) from (4.1) are not contradictory in the Markovian limit. What seems to be a short time to the subsystem during its relaxation, is actually a long time in terms of the environment correlation. The Boltzmann equation is coarse-grained.



Figure 1. Staple-shaped Wilson lines in the definition of the chromoelectric gluon distribution functions of the thermal quark-gluon plasma. The double arrow indicates the adjoint representation. The spatial Wilson lines at infinite time cancel partially and only the part between R_1 and R_2 remains. The existence and necessity of the spatial Wilson lines at infinite time are explained in the appendix A.

 $t \to +\infty$)

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \sum_{A,B_1,B_2,C_1,C_2} \operatorname{Tr}_E \Big[\mathcal{W}^{B_1A}_{[(\mathbf{R}_1,t_0),(\mathbf{R}_1,t/2)]} \mathcal{W}^{AB_2}_{[(\mathbf{R}_2,t/2),(\mathbf{R}_2,t_0)]} \times E^{C_1}_{i_1}(\mathbf{R}_1,t_1) \mathcal{W}^{C_1B_1}_{[(\mathbf{R}_1,t_1),(\mathbf{R}_1,t_0)]} \mathcal{W}^{B_2C_2}_{[(\mathbf{R}_2,t_0),(\mathbf{R}_2,t_2)]} E^{C_2}_{i_2}(\mathbf{R}_2,t_2) \rho_E \Big] \\
= \frac{1}{T_F} \Big\langle \operatorname{Tr}_{color} \Big(E_{i_1}(\mathbf{R}_1,t_1) \mathcal{W}_{[(\mathbf{R}_1,t_1),(\mathbf{R}_1,+\infty)]} \mathcal{W}_{[(\mathbf{R}_2,+\infty),(\mathbf{R}_2,t_2)]} E_{i_2}(\mathbf{R}_2,t_2) \Big) \Big\rangle_T \\
= \frac{1}{T_F} g^{E_{i_1i_2}}_{i_1i_2}(t_1,t_2,\mathbf{R}_1,\mathbf{R}_2), \qquad (4.8)$$

where $E_i = E_i^A T^A$ and $\langle \cdots \rangle_T = \text{Tr}_E(\cdots \rho_E)$. In the last line we defined the chromoelectric gluon distribution function $g_{i_1i_2}^{E++}$ of the thermal QGP. In the definition of $g_{i_1i_2}^{E++}$, the chromoelectric fields at different spacetime points are dressed with timelike Wilson lines extending to infinity. A spatial Wilson line connecting the open ends of the timelike Wilson lines is needed to restore gauge invariance, however, it cannot be generated from the field redefinition applied above. The spatial Wilson line at the infinite time is generated from resumming offshell Coulomb modes which are exchanged between the color octet pair and the medium. Details of the calculation are shown in appendix A. The timelike and spatial Wilson lines together form a staple shape, as shown in figure 1. The shape of the Wilson lines is similar to the case of the gluon TMDPDF, though the time direction here is along the real time, rather than the lightcone time.

If we assume the thermal QGP is invariant under spacetime translation, we can define

$$g_{i_1i_2}^{E++}(t_1, t_2, \mathbf{R}_1, \mathbf{R}_2) = g_{i_1i_2}^{E++}(t_1 - t_2, \mathbf{R}_1 - \mathbf{R}_2)$$

$$\equiv \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 q}{(2\pi)^4} e^{iq^0(t_1 - t_2) - i\mathbf{q} \cdot (\mathbf{R}_1 - \mathbf{R}_2)} g_{i_1i_2}^{E++}(q^0, \mathbf{q}) \,. \tag{4.9}$$

We can plug the Fourier transform (4.9) into (4.7) and carry out the integrals over \mathbf{R}_i and t_i where i = 1, 2. The spatial integrals lead to $(2\pi)^6 \delta^3(\mathbf{k}_1 - \mathbf{p}_{cm} + \mathbf{q}) \delta^3(\mathbf{k}_3 - \mathbf{p}_{cm} + \mathbf{q})$. The two time integrals in the Markovian limit $t \to +\infty$ give $\propto \delta(E_{nl} - E_p + q^0) \delta(E_{n'l'} - E_p + q^0)$. If we assume quarkonium states with different quantum numbers nl are non-degenerate (they have different binding energies), then the summation over n'l' will fix n' = n and l' = l. Finally using the following integral

$$\int_{\frac{-t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d}t_1 \int_{\frac{-t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d}t_2 \, e^{i\omega t_1} e^{-i\omega t_2} \xrightarrow{t \to +\infty} 2\pi t \delta(\omega) \,, \tag{4.10}$$

we find (4.7) can be simplified to

$$tg^{2} \frac{1}{N_{c}} \sum_{i_{1},i_{2}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{cm}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} k_{3}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{4} q}{(2\pi)^{4}} (2\pi)^{7} \delta^{3} (\boldsymbol{k}_{1} - \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}} + \boldsymbol{q}) \delta^{3} (\boldsymbol{k}_{3} - \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}} + \boldsymbol{q}) \quad (4.11)$$
$$\times \delta(E_{nl} - E_{p} + q^{0}) \langle \psi_{nl} | r_{i_{1}} | \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}} \rangle \langle \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}} | r_{i_{2}} | \psi_{nl} \rangle g_{i_{1}i_{2}}^{E++} (q^{0}, \boldsymbol{q})$$
$$\times \langle \boldsymbol{k}_{3}, nl, 1 | \rho_{S}(-t/2) | \boldsymbol{k}_{2}, nl, 1 \rangle .$$

Defining the quarkonium dipole transition function

$$d_{i_1 i_2}^{nl}(\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm rel}) \equiv g^2 \frac{1}{N_c} \langle \psi_{nl} | r_{i_1} | \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm rel}} \rangle \langle \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm rel}} | r_{i_2} | \psi_{nl} \rangle , \qquad (4.12)$$

and making the Wigner transform (4.2) (by setting $\mathbf{k}_1 = \mathbf{k} + \frac{\mathbf{k}'}{2}$, $\mathbf{k}_2 = \mathbf{k} - \frac{\mathbf{k}'}{2}$ and shifting $\mathbf{p}_{cm} \rightarrow \mathbf{p}_{cm} + \frac{\mathbf{k}'}{2}$), we find (4.11) turns to

$$t \sum_{i_1,i_2} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 p_{\mathrm{cm}}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 p_{\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 q}{(2\pi)^4} (2\pi)^4 \delta^3 (\boldsymbol{k} - \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}} + \boldsymbol{q}) \delta(E_{nl} - E_p + q^0)$$

$$\times d_{i_1 i_2}^{nl} (\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}) g_{i_1 i_2}^{E++} (q^0, \boldsymbol{q}) f_{nl}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{k}, -t/2) \equiv t \mathcal{C}_{nl}^{-}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{k}, -t/2) .$$

$$(4.13)$$

So far, we only consider the $\sum_{a,b,c,d} \gamma_{ab,cd}(t) L_{cd}^{\dagger} L_{ab} \rho_S(-t/2)$ term in the Lindblad equation (3.7). The other term in the anti-commutator $\sum_{a,b,c,d} \gamma_{ab,cd}(t) \rho_S(-t/2) L_{cd}^{\dagger} L_{ab}$ can be shown to give the same result (4.13). Their sum will cancel the factor of $\frac{1}{2}$ in eq. (3.7). So in the Markovian limit, after the Wigner transform, the anti-commutator term in the Lindblad equation leads to $tC_{nl}^{-}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{p}, -t/2)$, as previously shown in eq. (4.1). It should be pointed out that in the derivation of the dissociation collision term, no semiclassical approximation is made.

4.2 Recombination

To derive the recombination term C_{nl}^+ from the Lindblad equation (3.7), we need to sandwich $\sum_{a,b,c,d} \gamma_{ab,cd}(t) L_{ab} \rho_S(-t/2) L_{cd}^{\dagger}$ between $\langle \mathbf{k}_1, nl, 1 \rangle$ and $|\mathbf{k}_2, nl, 1 \rangle$ and apply the Wigner transform (4.2). We find the state $|a\rangle$ in L_{ab} is $|\mathbf{k}_1, nl, 1\rangle$ and $|c\rangle$ in L_{cd}^{\dagger} is $|\mathbf{k}_2, nl, 1\rangle$. Since at the order we are working, the only vertex that couples the color singlet and the environment is the singlet-octet dipole interaction, we must have $|b\rangle = |\mathbf{p}_{1cm}, \mathbf{p}_{1rel}, A_1\rangle$ and $|d\rangle = |\mathbf{p}_{2cm}, \mathbf{p}_{2rel}, A_2\rangle$ where the A_i denotes the color of the octet state. We need to $\operatorname{compute}$

$$\begin{split} \sum_{a,b,c,d} \gamma_{ab,cd}(t) L_{ab} \rho_S \left(\frac{-t}{2}\right) L_{cd}^{\dagger} \\ &= g^2 \frac{T_F}{N_c} \sum_{A_1,A_2} \sum_{B_1,B_2} \sum_{i_1,i_2} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 p_{1\mathrm{cm}}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 p_{1\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 p_{2\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^3} \int \mathrm{d}^3 R_1 \int \mathrm{d}^3 R_2 \int_{-\frac{t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d}t_1 \int_{-\frac{t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d}t_2 \\ &\times \mathrm{Tr}_E \Big[\langle \mathbf{k}_1, nl, 1| \langle S(\mathbf{R}_1, t_1) | r_{i_1} | \widetilde{O}^{B_1}(\mathbf{R}_1, t_1) \rangle | \mathbf{p}_{1\mathrm{cm}}, \mathbf{p}_{1\mathrm{rel}}, A_1 \rangle \\ &\times \langle \mathbf{p}_{2\mathrm{cm}}, \mathbf{p}_{2\mathrm{rel}}, A_2 | \langle \widetilde{O}^{B_2}(\mathbf{R}_2, t_2) | r_{i_2} | S(\mathbf{R}_2, t_2) \rangle | \mathbf{k}_2, nl, 1 \rangle \\ &\times \widetilde{E}_{i_2}^{B_2}(\mathbf{R}_2, t_2) \widetilde{E}_{i_1}^{\dagger B_1}(\mathbf{R}_1, t_1) \rho_E \Big] \Big\langle \mathbf{p}_{1\mathrm{cm}}, \mathbf{p}_{1\mathrm{rel}}, A_1 \Big| \rho_S \left(\frac{-t}{2}\right) \Big| \mathbf{p}_{2\mathrm{cm}}, \mathbf{p}_{2\mathrm{rel}}, A_2 \Big\rangle. \end{split}$$

Now we note that the octet states $|\mathbf{p}_{i \text{ cm}}, \mathbf{p}_{i \text{ rel}}, A_i\rangle$ (i = 1, 2) are defined at -t/2 by the original octet field O^{A_i} , since they sandwich $\rho_S(-t/2)$. Similar to eqs. (4.5), (4.6), we can show

$$\langle \mathbf{k}_{1}, nl, 1 | \langle S(\mathbf{R}_{1}, t_{1}) | r_{i_{1}} | \widetilde{O}^{B_{1}}(\mathbf{R}_{1}, t_{1}) \rangle | \mathbf{p}_{1cm}, \mathbf{p}_{1rel}, A_{1} \rangle$$

$$= e^{i(E_{nl}t_{1} - \mathbf{k}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{R}_{1})} e^{-i(E_{p_{1}}t_{1} - \mathbf{p}_{1cm} \cdot \mathbf{R}_{1})} \mathcal{W}^{B_{1}A_{1}}_{[(\mathbf{R}_{1}, t_{0}), (\mathbf{R}_{1}, -t/2)]} \langle \psi_{nl} | r_{i_{1}} | \Psi_{\mathbf{p}_{1rel}} \rangle$$

$$\langle \mathbf{p}_{2cm}, \mathbf{p}_{2rel}, A_{2} | \langle \widetilde{O}^{B_{2}}(\mathbf{R}_{2}, t_{2}) | r_{i_{2}} | S(\mathbf{R}_{2}, t_{2}) \rangle | \mathbf{k}_{2}, nl, 1 \rangle$$

$$(4.15)$$

$$= e^{i(E_{p_2}t_2 - p_{2\rm cm}\cdot R_2)} e^{-i(E_{nl}t_2 - k_2 \cdot R_2)} \mathcal{W}^{A_2B_2}_{[(R_2, -t/2), (R_2, t_0)]} \langle \Psi_{p_{2\rm rel}} | r_{i_2} | \psi_{nl} \rangle ,$$
(4.16)

where $E_{p_i} = (\mathbf{p}_{i \text{ rel}})^2/M$. Plugging into (4.14) and using the Wilson lines dressed on the chromoelectric fields gives

$$\begin{split} \sum_{a,b,c,d} \gamma_{ab,cd}(t) L_{ab} \rho_S \left(\frac{-t}{2}\right) L_{cd}^{\dagger} \\ &= g^2 \frac{1}{N_c} \sum_{A_1,A_2} \sum_{i_1,i_2} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 p_{1\mathrm{cm}}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 p_{1\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 p_{2\mathrm{cm}}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 p_{2\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^3} \\ &\times \int \mathrm{d}^3 R_1 \int \mathrm{d}^3 R_2 \int_{-\frac{t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d} t_1 \int_{-\frac{t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d} t_2 \left\langle \psi_{nl} | r_{i_1} | \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{1\mathrm{rel}}} \right\rangle \left\langle \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{2\mathrm{rel}}} | r_{i_2} | \psi_{nl} \right\rangle \\ &\times e^{i(E_{nl}t_1 - \boldsymbol{k}_1 \cdot \boldsymbol{R}_1) - i(E_{p_1}t_1 - \boldsymbol{p}_{1\mathrm{cm}} \cdot \boldsymbol{R}_1)} e^{-i(E_{nl}t_2 - \boldsymbol{k}_2 \cdot \boldsymbol{R}_2) + i(E_{p_2}t_2 - \boldsymbol{p}_{2\mathrm{cm}} \cdot \boldsymbol{R}_2)} \\ &\times \left[g_{i_2i_1}^{E^{--}} (t_2, t_1, \boldsymbol{R}_2, \boldsymbol{R}_1) \right]^{A_2 A_1} \left\langle \boldsymbol{p}_{1\mathrm{cm}}, \boldsymbol{p}_{1\mathrm{rel}}, A_1 \Big| \rho_S \left(\frac{-t}{2}\right) \Big| \boldsymbol{p}_{2\mathrm{cm}}, \boldsymbol{p}_{2\mathrm{rel}}, A_2 \right\rangle, \quad (4.17) \end{split}$$

where the function $\left[g_{i_{2}i_{1}}^{E^{--}}(t_{2},t_{1},\boldsymbol{R}_{2},\boldsymbol{R}_{1})\right]^{A_{2}A_{1}}$ is defined in the Markovian limit by

$$\begin{split} \left[g_{i_{2}i_{1}}^{E--}(t_{2},t_{1},\boldsymbol{R}_{2},\boldsymbol{R}_{1})\right]^{A_{2}A_{1}} \\ &\equiv T_{F}\lim_{t \to +\infty}\sum_{B_{1},B_{2},C_{1},C_{2}} \operatorname{Tr}_{E}\left[\mathcal{W}_{[(\boldsymbol{R}_{1},t_{0}),(\boldsymbol{R}_{1},-t/2)]}^{B_{1}A_{1}} \left(4.18\right)\right] \\ &\times \mathcal{W}_{[(\boldsymbol{R}_{2},-t/2),(\boldsymbol{R}_{2},t_{0})]}^{A_{2}B_{2}C_{2}}\mathcal{W}_{[(\boldsymbol{R}_{2},t_{0}),(\boldsymbol{R}_{2},t_{2})]}^{B_{2}C_{2}}E_{i_{2}}^{C_{2}}(\boldsymbol{R}_{2},t_{2})E_{i_{1}}^{C_{1}}(\boldsymbol{R}_{1},t_{1})\mathcal{W}_{[(\boldsymbol{R}_{1},t_{1}),(\boldsymbol{R}_{1},t_{0})]}^{C_{1}B_{1}}\rho_{E}\right] \\ &= T_{F}\left\langle\left(\mathcal{W}_{[(\boldsymbol{R}_{2},-\infty),(\boldsymbol{R}_{2},t_{2})]}E_{i_{2}}(\boldsymbol{R}_{2},t_{2})\right)^{A_{2}}\left(E_{i_{1}}(\boldsymbol{R}_{1},t_{1})\mathcal{W}_{[(\boldsymbol{R}_{1},t_{1}),(\boldsymbol{R}_{1},-\infty)]}\right)^{A_{1}}\right\rangle_{T}. \end{split}$$

The newly defined function $(g_{i_2i_1}^{E^{--}})^{A_2A_1}$ is different from the previously defined chromoelectric gluon distribution of the thermal QGP in two aspects: first, $(g_{i_2i_1}^{E^{--}})^{A_2A_1}$ has open color indexes and thus one may worry that it is gauge dependent. However, the timelike Wilson line together with the spatial Wilson which is explained in appendix A connects the chromoelectric field to a point at $\mathbf{R} = \infty, t = -\infty$. So the combination $\mathcal{W}_{[(\infty, -\infty), (\mathbf{R}, t)]} E(\mathbf{R}, t)$ transforms as an adjoint representation at $\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{\infty}, t = -\infty$, which can be set to be a trivial transformation by a choice of the global gauge. Therefore, both WE and EW are gauge invariant objects independently in the definition of $(g_{i_2i_1}^{E--})^{A_2A_1}$. Second, the end point of the Wilson lines along the time axis is $t = -\infty$ in $(g_{i_2i_1}^{E--})^{A_2A_1}$ rather than $t = +\infty$. The physical interpretation of the different end points of the time axis is as follows: in quarkonium dissociation, the color octet state is a final state and the Wilson line resums the A_0 interaction between the octet state and the medium, which is not suppressed by the nonrelativistic expansion. Since only final state interactions are involved, the Wilson lines go to $t = +\infty$. In quarkonium recombination, the color octet state is an initial state and the Wilson line resums the A_0 interaction before recombination occurs, which is an initial state interaction. But one should keep in mind that the density matrix for the incoming state may be off-diagonal in color space and still contribute to recombination.

Recombination from the state with an off-diagonal color density matrix is genuinely a quantum effect with no classical analog. To further simplify the recombination term (4.17) and derive the recombination term in the Boltzmann equation, we need to make a semiclassical approximation, which will be explained in the next subsection.

4.3 Semiclassical approximation in recombination

As discussed above, we will make semiclassical approximation to write the recombination term (4.17) as a collision term in the Boltzmann equation (4.3). First we approximate the subsystem density matrix by its diagonal piece in the color space

$$\left\langle \boldsymbol{p}_{1\mathrm{cm}}, \boldsymbol{p}_{1\mathrm{rel}}, A_1 \middle| \rho_S \left(\frac{-t}{2}\right) \middle| \boldsymbol{p}_{2\mathrm{cm}}, \boldsymbol{p}_{2\mathrm{rel}}, A_2 \right\rangle \approx \delta^{A_1 A_2} \left\langle \boldsymbol{p}_{1\mathrm{cm}}, \boldsymbol{p}_{1\mathrm{rel}} \middle| \rho_S^{(8)} \left(\frac{-t}{2}\right) \middle| \boldsymbol{p}_{2\mathrm{cm}}, \boldsymbol{p}_{2\mathrm{rel}} \right\rangle,$$
(4.19)

where the superscript (8) indicates the density matrix is a color octet state. With this approximation, we can contract the color indexes in $(g_{i_2i_1}^{E^{--}})^{A_2A_1}$ and define

$$g_{i_{2}i_{1}}^{E--}(t_{2},t_{1},\boldsymbol{R}_{2},\boldsymbol{R}_{1})$$

$$\equiv \sum_{A_{1},A_{2}} \delta^{A_{1}A_{2}} \left[g_{i_{2}i_{1}}^{E--}(t_{2},t_{1},\boldsymbol{R}_{2},\boldsymbol{R}_{1}) \right]^{A_{2}A_{1}}$$

$$= T_{F} \Big\langle \sum_{A} \left(\mathcal{W}_{\left[(\boldsymbol{R}_{2},-\infty),(\boldsymbol{R}_{2},t_{2})\right]} E_{i_{2}}(\boldsymbol{R}_{2},t_{2}) \right)^{A} \Big(E_{i_{1}}(\boldsymbol{R}_{1},t_{1}) \mathcal{W}_{\left[(\boldsymbol{R}_{1},t_{1}),(\boldsymbol{R}_{1},-\infty)\right]} \Big)^{A} \Big\rangle_{T}$$

$$= \Big\langle \operatorname{Tr}_{\operatorname{color}} \left(\mathcal{W}_{\left[(\boldsymbol{R}_{2},-\infty),(\boldsymbol{R}_{2},t_{2})\right]} E_{i_{2}}(\boldsymbol{R}_{2},t_{2}) E_{i_{1}}(\boldsymbol{R}_{1},t_{1}) \mathcal{W}_{\left[(\boldsymbol{R}_{1},t_{1}),(\boldsymbol{R}_{1},-\infty)\right]} \right) \Big\rangle_{T}. \quad (4.20)$$

The function $g_{i_2i_1}^{E^{--}}(t_2, t_1, \mathbf{R}_2, \mathbf{R}_1)$ is another chromoelectric gluon distribution function of the thermal QGP, similar to the previously defined $g_{i_1i_2}^{E^++}(t_1, t_2, \mathbf{R}_1, \mathbf{R}_2)$. The only difference is the orientation of the Wilson line. For $g_{i_1i_2}^{E^++}(t_1, t_2, \mathbf{R}_1, \mathbf{R}_2)$, the Wilson line goes to $t \to +\infty$ while for $g_{i_2i_1}^{E^{--}}(t_2, t_1, \mathbf{R}_2, \mathbf{R}_1)$, the Wilson line comes from $t \to -\infty$. A spatial Wilson line connecting the end points of the timelike Wilson lines is also needed for gauge invariance and can be generated from resumming Coulomb modes, as in the case of g^{E++} . Detailed calculations of the spatial Wilson line at infinite time can be found in appendix A. The timelike and spatial Wilson lines in the definition of $g_{i_2i_1}^{E^{--}}(t_2, t_1, \mathbf{R}_2, \mathbf{R}_1)$ form a staple shape, as plotted in figure 1.

Using the assumption of translational invariance, we have

$$g_{i_{2}i_{1}}^{E--}(t_{2},t_{1},\boldsymbol{R}_{2},\boldsymbol{R}_{1}) = g_{i_{2}i_{1}}^{E--}(t_{2}-t_{1},\boldsymbol{R}_{2}-\boldsymbol{R}_{1})$$

$$\equiv \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{4}q}{(2\pi)^{4}} e^{iq^{0}(t_{2}-t_{1})-i\boldsymbol{q}\cdot(\boldsymbol{R}_{2}-\boldsymbol{R}_{1})} g_{i_{2}i_{1}}^{E--}(q^{0},\boldsymbol{q}).$$
(4.21)

Plugging everything into (4.17) and integrating over \mathbf{R}_1 and \mathbf{R}_2 leads to

$$g^{2} \frac{1}{N_{c}} \sum_{i_{1},i_{2}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{1\mathrm{cm}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{1\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{2\mathrm{cm}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{2\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{4} q}{(2\pi)^{4}} \int_{-\frac{t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d}t_{1} \int_{-\frac{t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d}t_{2}$$

$$\times e^{i(E_{nl}-E_{p_{1}}-q^{0})t_{1}} e^{-i(E_{nl}-E_{p_{2}}-q^{0})t_{2}} (2\pi)^{6} \delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{k}_{1}-\boldsymbol{p}_{1\mathrm{cm}}-\boldsymbol{q}) \delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{k}_{2}-\boldsymbol{p}_{2\mathrm{cm}}-\boldsymbol{q})$$

$$\times \langle \psi_{nl} | r_{i_{1}} | \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{1\mathrm{rel}}} \rangle \langle \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{2\mathrm{rel}}} | r_{i_{2}} | \psi_{nl} \rangle g_{i_{2}i_{1}}^{E_{---}} (q^{0},\boldsymbol{q}) \langle \boldsymbol{p}_{1\mathrm{cm}}, \boldsymbol{p}_{1\mathrm{rel}} | \rho_{S}^{(8)} \left(\frac{-t}{2}\right) | \boldsymbol{p}_{2\mathrm{cm}}, \boldsymbol{p}_{2\mathrm{rel}} \rangle .$$

$$(4.22)$$

When applying the Wigner transform to (4.22), we set $\mathbf{k}_1 = \mathbf{k} + \mathbf{k}'/2$ and $\mathbf{k}_2 = \mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}'/2$. Changing variables $\mathbf{p}_{1\text{cm}} \rightarrow \mathbf{p}_{\text{cm}} + \mathbf{p}'_{\text{cm}}/2$ and $\mathbf{p}_{2\text{cm}} \rightarrow \mathbf{p}_{\text{cm}} - \mathbf{p}'_{\text{cm}}/2$, we find

$$g^{2} \frac{1}{N_{c}} \sum_{i_{1},i_{2}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{cm}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{1rel}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{2\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{4} q}{(2\pi)^{4}} \int_{\frac{-t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d}t_{1} \int_{\frac{-t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d}t_{2} e^{i(E_{nl}-E_{p_{1}}-q^{0})t_{1}} e^{-i(E_{nl}-E_{p_{2}}-q^{0})t_{2}} \\ \times (2\pi)^{3} \delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{k}-\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}}-\boldsymbol{q}) \langle \psi_{nl} | r_{i_{1}} | \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{1\mathrm{rel}}} \rangle \langle \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{2\mathrm{rel}}} | r_{i_{2}} | \psi_{nl} \rangle g_{i_{2}i_{1}}^{E_{--}}(q^{0},\boldsymbol{q}) \\ \times \left\langle \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}} + \frac{\boldsymbol{k}'}{2}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{1rel}} \right| \rho_{S}^{(8)} \left(\frac{-t}{2}\right) \left| \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}} - \frac{\boldsymbol{k}'}{2}, \boldsymbol{p}_{2\mathrm{rel}} \right\rangle.$$

$$(4.23)$$

Applying the Wigner transform, we find

$$\int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}k'}{(2\pi)^{3}} e^{i\boldsymbol{k}'\cdot\boldsymbol{x}_{\mathrm{cm}}} \left\langle \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}} + \frac{\boldsymbol{k}'}{2}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{1rel}} \middle| \rho_{S}^{(8)} \left(\frac{-t}{2}\right) \middle| \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}} - \frac{\boldsymbol{k}'}{2}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{2rel}} \right\rangle$$
$$= \int \mathrm{d}^{3}x_{\mathrm{rel}} e^{-i(\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{1rel}} - \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{2rel}})\cdot\boldsymbol{x}_{\mathrm{rel}}} f_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)} \left(\boldsymbol{x}_{\mathrm{cm}}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}}, \boldsymbol{x}_{\mathrm{rel}}, \frac{\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{1rel}} + \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{2rel}}}{2}, \frac{-t}{2}\right), \quad (4.24)$$

where $f_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)}(\boldsymbol{x}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{x}_{\rm rel}, \frac{\boldsymbol{p}_{1\rm rel} + \boldsymbol{p}_{2\rm rel}}{2}, -t/2)$ is the phase space distribution function of a color octet $Q\bar{Q}$ pair with center-of-mass and relative positions and momenta $\boldsymbol{x}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{x}_{\rm rel}, \frac{\boldsymbol{p}_{1\rm rel} + \boldsymbol{p}_{2\rm rel}}{2}$. If the color reaches thermal equilibrium, statistically we will have

$$f_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)} = \frac{N_c^2 - 1}{N_c^2} f_{Q\bar{Q}} , \qquad (4.25)$$

where $f_{Q\bar{Q}}$ is the distribution function of an unbound $Q\bar{Q}$ pair that can be either a color singlet state or an octet state.

Now we take a crucial step in the derivation of the semiclassical transport equation: the semiclassical expansion, also known as the gradient expansion. A general discussion of the gradient expansion in the derivation of semiclassical transport equations can be found, for example, in ref. [74]. We will expand $f_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)}$ around some $\boldsymbol{x}_{rel} = \boldsymbol{x}_0$ and assume the distribution varies slowly as \boldsymbol{x}_{rel} changes

$$\begin{aligned} f_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)} \bigg(\boldsymbol{x}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{x}_{\rm rel}, \frac{\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 1rel} + \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 2rel}}{2}, t \bigg) \\ &= f_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)} \bigg(\boldsymbol{x}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{x}_{0}, \frac{\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 1rel} + \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 2rel}}{2}, t \bigg) \\ &+ (\boldsymbol{x}_{\rm rel} - \boldsymbol{x}_{0}) \cdot \nabla_{\boldsymbol{x}_{0}} f_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)} \bigg(\boldsymbol{x}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{x}_{0}, \frac{\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 1rel} + \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 2rel}}{2}, t \bigg) \end{aligned}$$
(4.26)

where higher order terms in the gradient expansion are omitted. In this section, we will focus on the leading term in the gradient expansion. The next-to-leading term, which will be discussed in section 5, corresponds to a quantum correction to the semiclassical Boltzmann equation. In practice, we want to choose \mathbf{x}_0 such that quantum corrections are minimized. We will choose $\mathbf{x}_0 = 0$ when we compute the correction in the next section.

The derivation shown in ref. [26] uses the gradient expansion implicitly, by assuming the distribution function of a $Q\bar{Q}$ pair is uniform in the relative position. This assumption of uniformity is exactly the leading term in the gradient expansion (4.26). The argument given in ref. [26] relies on a large diffusion rate for open heavy quarks and the angular dependence of the octet state wavefunctions $|\Psi_{p_{rel}}\rangle$ (see eq. (D8) of ref. [26]). Thus it is not obvious how to generalize the derivation in ref. [26] to incorporate quantum corrections. Here the derivation is based on a gradient expansion and higher order corrections can be worked out systematically.

Plugging the leading term in the gradient expansion back into (4.24), we find the integral over \mathbf{x}_{rel} can be done trivially which gives $(2\pi)^3 \delta^3(\mathbf{p}_{1rel} - \mathbf{p}_{2rel})$. Now we can carry out the time integrals in (4.23) in the Markovian limit when $\mathbf{p}_{1rel} = \mathbf{p}_{2rel} \equiv \mathbf{p}_{rel}$. The time integrals in the Markovian limit have been explained in section 4.1. We can show after the Wigner transform (4.24), eq. (4.23) turns to

$$tg^{2} \frac{1}{N_{c}} \sum_{i_{1},i_{2}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{cm}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{4} q}{(2\pi)^{4}} (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{3} (\boldsymbol{k} - \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}} - \boldsymbol{q}) \delta(E_{nl} - E_{p} - q^{0}) \\ \times \langle \psi_{nl} | r_{i_{1}} | \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}} \rangle \langle \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}} | r_{i_{2}} | \psi_{nl} \rangle g_{i_{2}i_{1}}^{E_{--}} (q^{0}, \boldsymbol{q}) f_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)} (\boldsymbol{x}_{\mathrm{cm}}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}}, \boldsymbol{x}_{0}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}, -t/2) \\ = t \sum_{i_{1},i_{2}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{cm}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{4} q}{(2\pi)^{4}} (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{3} (\boldsymbol{k} - \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}} - \boldsymbol{q}) \delta(E_{nl} - E_{p} - q^{0}) \\ \times d_{i_{1}i_{2}}^{nl} (\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}) g_{i_{2}i_{1}}^{E_{--}} (q^{0}, \boldsymbol{q}) f_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)} (\boldsymbol{x}_{\mathrm{cm}}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}}, \boldsymbol{x}_{0}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}, -t/2) \equiv t \mathcal{C}_{nl}^{+} (\boldsymbol{x}_{\mathrm{cm}}, \boldsymbol{k}, -t/2) ,$$

where $E_p = (\mathbf{p}_{rel})^2/M$ and we defined the collision term for recombination C_{nl}^+ in the Boltzmann equation (4.3). The structure of (4.27) is very similar to that of (4.13). We will discuss these two collision terms in the next subsection.

4.4 Factorization of reaction rates

In the previous subsections, we have derived the collision terms in the semiclassical Boltzmann equation for dissociation and recombination. From eqs. (4.13), (4.27), we have

$$\mathcal{C}_{nl}^{-}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{k}, t) = \sum_{i_{1}, i_{2}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{cm}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{4} q}{(2\pi)^{4}} (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{k} - \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}} + \boldsymbol{q}) \delta(E_{nl} - E_{p} + q^{0}) \\ \times d_{i_{1}i_{2}}^{nl}(\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}) g_{i_{1}i_{2}}^{E++}(q^{0}, \boldsymbol{q}) f_{nl}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{k}, t)$$

$$(4.28)$$

$$\mathcal{C}_{nl}^{+}(\boldsymbol{x}_{\rm cm},\boldsymbol{k},t) = \sum_{i_{1},i_{2}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm cm}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm rel}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{4}\boldsymbol{q}}{(2\pi)^{4}} (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{k}-\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm cm}-\boldsymbol{q}) \delta(E_{nl}-E_{p}-\boldsymbol{q}^{0}) \\ \times d_{i_{1}i_{2}}^{nl}(\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm rel}) g_{i_{2}i_{1}}^{E--}(\boldsymbol{q}^{0},\boldsymbol{q}) f_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)}(\boldsymbol{x}_{\rm cm},\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm cm},\boldsymbol{x}_{0},\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm rel},t) \,.$$
(4.29)

Then the dissociation and recombination rates can be defined. General expressions for the reaction rates can be found in refs. [75, 76]. We will first study the dissociation rate of a quarkonium state with position \boldsymbol{x} and momentum \boldsymbol{k} , which can be written as

$$R_{nl}^{-}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{k}, t) = \frac{C_{nl}^{-}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{k}, t)}{f_{nl}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{k}, t)}, \qquad (4.30)$$

where the rate depends on position and time via the dependence of the QGP temperature on position and time.⁵ The QGP temperature determines the chromoelectric gluon distribution function. Using (4.28), we find

$$R_{nl}^{-}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{k}, t) = \sum_{i_{1}, i_{2}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{cm}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{4} q}{(2\pi)^{4}} (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{k} - \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}} + \boldsymbol{q}) \delta(E_{nl} - E_{p} + q^{0}) \\ \times d_{i_{1}i_{2}}^{nl}(\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}) g_{i_{1}i_{2}}^{E++}(q^{0}, \boldsymbol{q}) \,.$$

$$(4.31)$$

The summation over i_1, i_2 can be further simplified. So far we have not written out the dependence on the third component of the orbital angular momentum m_l explicitly. In practice, we will average over m_l since current heavy ion experiments do not measure m_l . Temporarily restoring the m_l dependence in the bound state wavefunction, we obtain (note that in the integrand, the only dependence on \hat{p}_{rel} is in the dipole transition function)

$$\frac{1}{2l+1} \sum_{m_l=-l}^{l} \int d\Omega_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\text{rel}}} d_{i_1 i_2}^{nl m_l}(\boldsymbol{p}_{\text{rel}})$$

$$= \frac{1}{2l+1} \sum_{m_l=-l}^{l} \int d\Omega_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\text{rel}}} g^2 \frac{1}{N_c} \langle \psi_{nl m_l} | r_{i_1} | \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\text{rel}}} \rangle \langle \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\text{rel}}} | r_{i_2} | \psi_{nl m_l} \rangle$$

$$= \frac{\delta_{i_1 i_2}}{3} \frac{1}{2l+1} \sum_{m_l=-l}^{l} \int d\Omega_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\text{rel}}} g^2 \frac{1}{N_c} | \langle \psi_{nl m_l} | \boldsymbol{r} | \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\text{rel}}} \rangle |^2$$

$$\equiv \delta_{i_1 i_2} \int d\Omega_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\text{rel}}} \overline{d}_{nl}(\boldsymbol{p}_{\text{rel}}) \qquad (4.32)$$

⁵We assume the spacetime variation of the QGP temperature is much slower than the typical relaxation time of quarkonium, such that during quarkonium dissociation or recombination, the QGP can be treated as translationally invariant in spacetime.

where $\mathrm{d}\Omega_{p_{\mathrm{rel}}} = \mathrm{d}\cos\theta_{p_{\mathrm{rel}}} \,\mathrm{d}\phi_{p_{\mathrm{rel}}}$. Defining

$$g^{E++}(q^0, \boldsymbol{q}) \equiv \sum_{i_1, i_2} \delta_{i_1 i_2} g^{E++}_{i_1 i_2}(q^0, \boldsymbol{q}) , \qquad (4.33)$$

we can write the dissociation rate as

$$R_{nl}^{-} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{cm}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{4} q}{(2\pi)^{4}} (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{3} (\boldsymbol{k} - \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}} + \boldsymbol{q}) \delta(E_{nl} - E_{p} + q^{0}) \overline{d}_{nl}(\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}) g^{E++}(q^{0}, \boldsymbol{q})$$

$$= \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{cm}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \overline{d}_{nl}(\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}) g^{E++} \left(\frac{(\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}})^{2}}{M} - E_{nl}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}} - \boldsymbol{k}\right)$$

$$= \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \overline{d}_{nl}(\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}) G^{E++} \left(\frac{(\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}})^{2}}{M} - E_{nl}\right), \qquad (4.34)$$

where G^{E++} is the integrated chromoelectric gluon distribution function:

$$G^{E++}(q^{0}) \equiv \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}q}{(2\pi)^{3}} g^{E++}(q^{0}, \mathbf{q}) = \int \mathrm{d}t \, e^{-iq^{0}t} g^{E++}(t, \mathbf{0})$$
$$= \int \mathrm{d}t \, e^{-iq^{0}t} \left\langle \operatorname{Tr}_{\operatorname{color}}\left(E_{i}(t) \mathcal{W}_{[t,0]} E_{i}(0)\right)\right\rangle_{T}.$$
(4.35)

In the integrated chromoelectric gluon distribution function G^{E++} , the spatial index *i* is summed over and \mathcal{W} denotes a Wilson line in the adjoint representation. The Wilson lines connecting \mathbf{R}_1 and \mathbf{R}_2 shown in figure 1 overlap at the same position and only the part between t_1 and t_2 remains after cancellation.

The differential rate can be written as

$$(2\pi)^{3} \frac{\mathrm{d}R_{nl}^{-}}{\mathrm{d}^{3}p_{\mathrm{cm}}} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}p_{\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{4}q}{(2\pi)^{4}} (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{k} - \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}} + \boldsymbol{q}) \delta(E_{nl} - E_{p} + q^{0}) \overline{d}_{nl}(\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}) g^{E++}(q^{0}, \boldsymbol{q})$$
$$= \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}p_{\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \overline{d}_{nl}(\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}) g^{E++} \left(\frac{(\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}})^{2}}{M} - E_{nl}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{cm}} - \boldsymbol{k}\right).$$
(4.36)

Eqs. (4.34), (4.36) are important results of this paper. They show the inclusive and differential dissociation rates of quarkonium factorize into the quarkonium dipole transition function \overline{d}_{nl} and the chromoelectric gluon distribution function of the QGP. In the inclusive rate, the gluon distribution function is momentum independent while in the differential rate, it is momentum dependent. The connection between the Wilson line structures in the definitions of the momentum independent and momentum dependent chromoelectric gluon distribution functions is very similar to the relation between the gluon PDF and the gluon TMDPDF. Through the use of this factorization theorem, experimental measurements of quarkonium nuclear modification factors probe the chromoelectric gluon distribution function of the QGP. The centrality dependence of the quarkonium nuclear modification factor probes the momentum independent distribution while the transverse momentum dependence and measurements of the azimuthal angular anisotropy may be able to probe the momentum dependent distribution, since both the differential dissociation and recombination rates depend on the momentum dependent distribution.

One application of the factorization formula (4.34) is to combine it with lattice QCD calculations to constrain the real part of the in-medium potential of quarkonium. The

thermal width extracted from lattice QCD calculations of the spectral functions contains both the dissociation rate and the diffusion rate. In the diffusion process, the singlet QQpair exchanges some momentum with the medium but does not break up. The diffusion process is suppressed with respect to dissociation when the temperature is small, i.e., $rT \ll 1$ where $r \sim 1/(Mv)$ is the typical size of a quarkonium state. In our power counting, the dissociation amplitude scales as rT while the diffusion amplitude scales as $(rT)^2$ [76]. So at leading order in the multipole expansion, the thermal width is equal to the dissociation rate R^- . Then if the chromoelectric gluon distribution function G^{E++} can be calculated in lattice QCD, we can combine the two lattice calculations and use the factorization formula (4.34) to constrain the quarkonium dipole transition function \overline{d}_{nl} . The dipole transition is between the bound state and the unbound scattering state. Their wavefunctions can be solved by using parametrized in-medium real potentials. So we can calculate \overline{d}_{nl} with different parametrizations of the real potential to compare with the one constrained by lattice QCD calculations. This method can indirectly constrain the inmedium real potential of quarkonium. It may also be used to test the consistency between the real and imaginary parts of the potential calculated in lattice QCD [77]. In practice, one may first carry out the above analysis for $\Upsilon(1S)$ at low temperature, where the power counting parameter is small and the framework presented here is under good theoretical control. Recent lattice QCD calculations of the thermal width and other developments for bottomonium at finite temperature can be found in refs. [78–80].

Next we will study the recombination term C^+ . Using (4.32) and integrating over $p_{\rm cm}$, we find (4.29) becomes

$$\mathcal{C}_{nl}^{+}(\boldsymbol{x}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{k}, t) \tag{4.37}$$

$$= \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} p_{\rm rel}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} q}{(2\pi)^{3}} \overline{d}_{nl}(\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm rel}) g^{E--} \left(E_{nl} - \frac{(\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm rel})^{2}}{M}, \boldsymbol{q} \right) f_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)}(\boldsymbol{x}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{k} - \boldsymbol{q}, \boldsymbol{x}_{0}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm rel}, t),$$

which factorizes into three pieces: dipole transition function, chromoelectric gluon distribution function and the octet $Q\bar{Q}$ distribution function. Eq. (4.37) should be thought of as a differential recombination process because the final state momentum, i.e., the quarkonium momentum, \boldsymbol{k} , is not integrated over. Integrating over \boldsymbol{k} leads to

$$\int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}k}{(2\pi)^{3}} \mathcal{C}_{nl}^{+}(\boldsymbol{x}_{\mathrm{cm}},\boldsymbol{k},t) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}p_{\mathrm{rel}}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \overline{d}_{nl}(\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}}) G^{E--} \left(E_{nl} - \frac{(\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}})^{2}}{M}\right) n_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)}(\boldsymbol{x}_{\mathrm{cm}},\boldsymbol{x}_{0},\boldsymbol{p}_{\mathrm{rel}},t),$$
(4.38)

where G^{E--} is the integrated chromoelectric gluon distribution function and $n_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)}$ is a density. They are given by

$$G^{E--}(q^{0}) \equiv \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}q}{(2\pi)^{3}} g^{E--}(q^{0}, \mathbf{q}) = \int \mathrm{d}t e^{-iq^{0}t} g^{E--}(t, \mathbf{0})$$
$$= \int \mathrm{d}t e^{-iq^{0}t} \left\langle \mathrm{Tr}_{\mathrm{color}} \left(E_{i}(t) \mathcal{W}_{[t,0]} E_{i}(0) \right) \right\rangle_{T}$$
(4.39)

$$n_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)}(\boldsymbol{x}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{x}_0, \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm rel}, t) \equiv \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 k}{(2\pi)^3} f_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)}(\boldsymbol{x}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{x}_0, \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm rel}, t) \,.$$
(4.40)

We note that the integrated chromoelectric gluon distributions G^{E++} and G^{E--} are the same. Converting eqs. (4.37), (4.38) into differential and inclusive recombination rates of a

heavy quark requires knowledge of the relation between the two-particle QQ distribution and the one-particle \bar{Q} distribution. We will not pursue writing out the recombination rates explicitly here. Relevant formulas can be found in ref. [76].

Finally, we comment on the scale dependence of each component in the factorization formula. The chromoelectric gluon distribution function has a natural scale T, the plasma temperature. So we need to compute the dipole transition function \overline{d}_{nl} at the scale T. The EFT pNRQCD is constructed by matching at the scale Mv, we need to solve the renormalization group equation for \overline{d}_{nl} from Mv to T. It has been shown that at one loop, no extra renormalization is needed for the dipole interaction vertex beyond the renormalization of the strong coupling constant α_s [81]. We believe this is true to all orders due to the reparametrization invariance of the Lagrangian $\overline{\psi}(iD_0 - \frac{D^2}{2M})\psi$ for a single heavy quark field ψ , from which the leading pNRQCD Lagrangian is derived (see the derivation of pNRQCD in [45]).

5 Quantum correction to semiclassical transport

In this section, we work out the leading quantum correction to the semiclassical Boltzmann transport equation. For dissociation, no semiclassical expansion is applied. For recombination, we make two semiclassical approximations. The first one is (4.19), where we assume the octet state density matrix is diagonal in the color space. We want to point out that this assumption is not necessary if one works at leading order in the coupling constant. The reason why we have to make this semiclassical assumption is the open color indexes in (4.18). If we only keep the leading terms (in the coupling constant) in (4.18), we can set all the Wilson lines to be unity. Then (4.18) becomes

$$\left\langle E_{i_2}^{A_2}(\boldsymbol{R}_2, t_2) E_{i_1}^{A_1}(\boldsymbol{R}_1, t_1) \right\rangle_T,$$
 (5.1)

which is proportional to $\delta^{A_1A_2}$ up to higher order corrections (in the coupling constant). Therefore, at leading order, only the diagonal entries of the color density matrix contribute to recombination. But in general, off-diagonal entries can contribute. To derive the recombination collision term in semiclassical Boltzmann equation, we have to approximate the octet density matrix to be diagonal in color.

The second semiclassical approximation is the gradient expansion (4.26). So far, we only take the leading term in the gradient expansion. We now work out the recombination term from the next-to-leading term: $(\boldsymbol{x}_{rel} - \boldsymbol{x}_0) \cdot \nabla_{\boldsymbol{x}_0} f_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)}(\boldsymbol{x}_{cm}, \boldsymbol{p}_{cm}, \boldsymbol{x}_0, \frac{\boldsymbol{p}_{1rel} + \boldsymbol{p}_{2rel}}{2}, t)$. For simplicity, we will set $\boldsymbol{x}_0 = 0$. In practice, one wants to choose a \boldsymbol{x}_0 such that the gradient expansion converges fastest. With the next-to-leading term, (4.24) becomes

$$\int d^{3}x_{\rm rel} e^{-i(\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 1rel} - \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 2rel}) \cdot \boldsymbol{x}_{\rm rel}} \boldsymbol{x}_{\rm rel} \cdot \nabla_{\boldsymbol{x}_{0}} f_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)} \left(\boldsymbol{x}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{x}_{0}, \frac{\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 1rel} + \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 2rel}}{2}, t \right) \Big|_{\boldsymbol{x}_{0} = 0} \tag{5.2}$$

$$= \int d^{3}x_{\rm rel} \left[i \nabla_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 1rel}} e^{-i(\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 1rel} - \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 2rel}) \cdot \boldsymbol{x}_{\rm rel}} \right] \cdot \left[\nabla_{\boldsymbol{x}_{0}} f_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)} \left(\boldsymbol{x}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{x}_{0}, \frac{\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 1rel} + \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 2rel}}{2}, t \right) \right]_{\boldsymbol{x}_{0} = 0} \tag{5.2}$$

$$= \left[i \frac{\nabla_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 1rel}} - \nabla_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 2rel}}}{2} (2\pi)^{3} \delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 1rel} - \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 2rel}) \right] \cdot \left[\nabla_{\boldsymbol{x}_{0}} f_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)} \left(\boldsymbol{x}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm cm}, \boldsymbol{x}_{0}, \frac{\boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 1rel} + \boldsymbol{p}_{\rm 2rel}}{2}, t \right) \right]_{\boldsymbol{x}_{0} = 0}.$$

Plugging this into the Wigner transform of eq. (4.23) and integrating p_{1rel} and p_{2rel} by parts leads to

$$g^{2} \frac{1}{N_{c}} \sum_{i_{1},i_{2}} \int \frac{d^{3}p_{cm}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{d^{3}p_{1rel}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{d^{3}p_{2rel}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{d^{4}q}{(2\pi)^{4}} \int_{-\frac{t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} dt_{1} \int_{-\frac{t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} dt_{2} e^{i(E_{nl}-E_{p_{1}}-q^{0})t_{1}} e^{-i(E_{nl}-E_{p_{2}}-q^{0})t_{2}} \\ \times (2\pi)^{6} \delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{k}-\boldsymbol{p}_{cm}-\boldsymbol{q}) \delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{p}_{1rel}-\boldsymbol{p}_{2rel}) \langle \psi_{nl}|r_{i_{1}}|\Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{1rel}}\rangle \langle \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{2rel}}|r_{i_{2}}|\psi_{nl}\rangle \langle \Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{2rel}}|r_{i_{2}}|\psi_{nl}\rangle g_{i_{2}i_{1}}^{E_{2}--}(q^{0},\boldsymbol{q}) \\ \times \left[\frac{-i\nabla_{\boldsymbol{p}_{1rel}}\langle\psi_{nl}|r_{i_{1}}|\Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{1rel}}\rangle}{2\langle\psi_{nl}|r_{i_{1}}|\Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{1rel}}\rangle} + \frac{i\nabla_{\boldsymbol{p}_{2rel}}\langle\Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{2rel}}|r_{i_{2}}|\psi_{nl}\rangle}{2\langle\Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{2rel}}|r_{i_{2}}|\psi_{nl}\rangle} - \frac{\boldsymbol{p}_{1rel}}{M}t_{1} - \frac{\boldsymbol{p}_{2rel}}{M}t_{2} \right] \\ \cdot \left[\nabla_{\boldsymbol{x}_{0}}f_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)}(\boldsymbol{x}_{cm},\boldsymbol{p}_{cm},\boldsymbol{x}_{0}, \frac{\boldsymbol{p}_{1rel}+\boldsymbol{p}_{2rel}}{2},t) \right]_{\boldsymbol{x}_{0}=0} \\ = t\sum_{i_{1},i_{2}}\int \frac{d^{3}p_{cm}}{(2\pi)^{3}}\frac{d^{3}p_{rel}}{(2\pi)^{3}}\frac{d^{4}q}{(2\pi)^{4}}(2\pi)^{4}\delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{k}-\boldsymbol{p}_{cm}-\boldsymbol{q})\delta(E_{nl}-E_{p}-q^{0}) \\ \times d_{i_{1}i_{2}}^{nl}(\boldsymbol{p}_{rel})g_{i_{2}i_{1}}^{E_{2}--}(q^{0},\boldsymbol{q}) \left[\frac{-i\nabla_{\boldsymbol{p}_{rel}}\langle\psi_{nl}|r_{i_{1}}|\Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{rel}}\rangle}{2\langle\psi_{nl}|r_{i_{1}}|\Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{rel}}\rangle} + \frac{i\nabla_{\boldsymbol{p}_{rel}}\langle\Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{rel}}|r_{i_{2}}|\psi_{nl}\rangle}{2\langle\Psi_{\boldsymbol{p}_{rel}}|r_{i_{2}}|\psi_{nl}\rangle} \right] \\ \cdot \left[\nabla_{\boldsymbol{x}_{0}}f_{Q\bar{Q}}^{(8)}(\boldsymbol{x}_{cm},\boldsymbol{p}_{cm},\boldsymbol{x}_{0}, \boldsymbol{p}_{rel},t) \right]_{\boldsymbol{x}_{0}=0}$$

$$= t\mathcal{Q}_{nl}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{x}_{cm},\boldsymbol{k},t), \qquad (5.3)$$

where we have used the fact

$$\int_{\frac{-t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d}t_1 \int_{\frac{-t}{2}}^{\frac{t}{2}} \mathrm{d}t_2 (t_1 + t_2) e^{i\omega t_1} e^{-i\omega t_2} = 0.$$
 (5.4)

We have derived the leading quantum correction Q_{nl}^+ to the recombination term C_{nl}^+ in the semiclassical Boltzmann transport equation. Higher order quantum corrections from the gradient expansion can be similarly worked out. The quantum correction is small when the distribution in the relative position between the $Q\bar{Q}$ pair varies slowly.

6 Conclusions

In this paper, we derived the semiclassical Boltzmann equation for quarkonium in the thermal QGP by applying pNRQCD and the open quantum systems framework. Under the hierarchy $M \gg Mv \gg Mv^2$, T, $\Lambda_{\rm QCD}$, we worked at leading order in the power counting parameter v and $\frac{T}{Mv}$, which correspond to nonrelativistic and multipole expansion respectively. In our power counting, the interaction vertex between the subsystem (quarkonium) and the environment (thermal QGP) scales as $\frac{T}{Mv}$ and thus is weak. In the weak coupling (between the subsystem and the environment) limit, the total density matrix factorizes into the subsystem density matrix and the environment density matrix. We demonstrated how the Lindblad equation for quarkonium as an open system turns into a Boltzmann equation after taking the Markovian limit and applying a Wigner transform (a Gaussian smearing is required for maintaining positivity). We justified the Markovian approximation using our power counting. The derivation is valid for a strongly coupled QGP at leading power of the nonrelativistic and multipole expansions since we resummed relevant interactions to all orders in the coupling constant at the scale Mv^2 and T. Reaction rates in the Boltzmann equation factorize into the quarkonium dipole transition function and the chromoelectric gluon distribution function of the QGP. The factorization originates from the factorization of the total density matrix. The structures of the Wilson line in the chromoelectric gluon distribution function are different for inclusive and differential reaction rates. The relation between the two is similar to that between the gluon PDF and the gluon TMDPDF, except that the time axis here is along the real time rather than the lightcone time. In the recombination, we also made semiclassical approximations. One semiclassical approximation assumes the initial state density matrix is diagonal in color space, while the second semiclassical approximation keeps only the lowest term in the gradient expansion. Finally we worked out the leading quantum correction to the semiclassical Boltzmann transport equation by computing the next-to-leading term in the gradient expansion.

The factorization in the transport equation allows us to use experimental measurements on quarkonium suppression in heavy ion collisions to probe the chromoelectric gluon distribution functions of the QGP. The chromoelectric gluon distribution functions are defined nonperturbatively here so in principle, they can be computed by using lattice QCD or the AdS/CFT correspondence. It would be interesting to investigate how much perturbative and nonperturbative calculations differ for the distribution function. Once the distribution function is determined nonperturbatively, one can combine it with the thermal width of quarkonium extracted from lattice QCD calculations to constrain the quarkonium in-medium real potential indirectly. In practice, one may choose $\Upsilon(1S)$ at low temperature for a well-controlled power counting. Furthermore, the differential reaction rates depend on a new momentum dependent chromoelectric distribution function defined by two electric fields connected via staple-shaped Wilson lines. It will be interesting to explore what other physics processes are sensitive to this correlation in the QGP. Finally, one can implement the quantum correction to the semiclassical transport equation in phenomenological studies and investigate the importance of quantum corrections. The framework developed here can be easily generalized to study quarkonium transport in cold nuclear matter by replacing the thermal QGP density matrix with a density matrix describing cold nuclear matter, which is relevant for quarkonium production in eA collisions in the future Electron-Ion Collider.

Acknowledgments

We thank Harold U. Baranger, Jean-Paul Blaizot, Nora Brambilla, Miguel A. Escobedo, Hong Liu, Krishna Rajagopal, Iain W. Stewart, Antonio Vairo and Hendrik van Hees for inspiring discussions. XY thanks the organizers of the workshop EMMI Rapid Reaction Task Force: Suppression and (re)generation of quarkonium in heavy-ion collisions at the LHC. This material is based upon work supported by the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of Nuclear Physics under grant Contract Numbers DE-SC0011090 and DE-FG02-05ER41368.

A Gauge link at infinite time

In the main text, the Wilson lines along the time axis arise due to field redefinitions. Here we show how to obtain the Wilson line along the spatial direction at infinite time. The derivation is similar to that of ref. [82] where the gauge link at infinite lightcone time was derived for the TMDPDF. For our purposes here, we first discuss modes that contribute to this gauge link.

The effective theory pNRQCD is based on separation of scales: $M \gg Mv \gg Mv^2 \gtrsim T$. We will distinguish modes by their momentum scaling $p^{\mu} = (p^0, p^1, p^2, p^3)$. The hard, soft and ultrasoft modes scale as

$$p_{\rm h}^{\mu} \sim M(1, 1, 1, 1)$$
 (A.1)

$$p_{\rm s}^{\mu} \sim M(v, v, v, v) \tag{A.2}$$

$$p^{\mu}_{\mu s} \sim M(v^2, v^2, v^2, v^2)$$
. (A.3)

In the derivation of pNRQCD, the hard and soft modes are integrated out, so this theory describes the dynamics of the ultrasoft modes. The Wilson line along the time axis discussed in the main text resums the interaction between the c.m. motion of the octet and the ultrasoft A_0 field.

In fact, another mode with a scaling that falls between the soft and ultrasoft modes can influence the ultrasoft dynamics. It has the momentum scaling

$$p_{\rm c}^{\mu} \sim M(v^2, v, v, v) \,, \tag{A.4}$$

and thus is named the Coulomb mode. The Coulomb modes that mediate the interaction between the $Q\bar{Q}$ pair has been included in the pNRQCD Lagrangian (2.1) as potentials. However, the Coulomb mode that couples the c.m. motion of the octet with the medium has not been considered yet. As we will show below, it is this Coulomb mode that leads to the gauge link at infinite time.

The relevant part of the Lagrangian density is

$$\int d^3 r \operatorname{Tr} \left(O^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{r}, t) \left(i D_0 + \frac{\boldsymbol{D}_{\boldsymbol{R}}^2}{4M} + \frac{\nabla_{\boldsymbol{r}}^2}{M} - V_o(\boldsymbol{r}) + \cdots \right) O(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{r}, t) \right),$$
(A.5)

where the new term compared with eq. (2.1) is the c.m. kinetic energy $D_R^2/(4M)$. For ultrasoft gauge fields, the c.m. kinetic energy can be omitted since it is at higher order in the *v* expansion. However, for Coulomb gauge fields, the c.m. kinetic energy is at the same order as iD_0 , which is at leading order. In the adjoint representation, the c.m. kinetic energy can be written as

$$\int d^3 r \operatorname{Tr} \left(O^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{r}, t) \frac{\nabla_{\boldsymbol{R}}^2}{4M} O(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{r}, t) - \frac{ig}{4M} O^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{r}, t) \left(\boldsymbol{A}(\boldsymbol{R}, t) \cdot \nabla_{\boldsymbol{R}} \right) + \nabla_{\boldsymbol{R}} \cdot \boldsymbol{A}(\boldsymbol{R}, t) O(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{r}, t) - \frac{g^2}{4M} O^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{r}, t) A^2(\boldsymbol{R}, t) O(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{r}, t) \right).$$
(A.6)

We will first focus on the interaction given by the term linear in A and discuss the term quadratic in A later. For the interaction linear in A, we will resum a series of



Figure 2. A general Feynman diagram in the series contributing to the gauge link at infinite time. The outgoing octet field has ultrasoft momentum p. All the attached gluons originate from the interaction term linear in A and scale as Coulomb modes.

Feynman diagrams. The *n*-th diagram is depicted in figure 2. The outgoing octet field is on-shell and ultrasoft: $p \sim M(v^2, v^2, v^2, v^2)$. All gluon fields interacting with the octet are Coulomb: $q_j \sim M(v^2, v, v, v)$, so $q_j + p = q_j + \mathcal{O}(Mv^2)$ for the spatial components of the momentum. The amplitude can be written as (we want to keep the **A** fields explicitly for later convenience)

$$\mathcal{M}_{n} \equiv \left[\prod_{j=1}^{n} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{4}q_{j}}{(2\pi)^{4}}\right] e^{-i(-\sum_{j=1}^{n} q_{j}) \cdot \mathbf{R}_{0}} \left[\frac{-g}{4M} \frac{1}{p^{0} - q_{n}^{0} - \frac{q_{n}^{2}}{4M} + i\epsilon} \mathbf{q}_{n} \cdot A(q_{n})\right] \\ \times \left[\frac{-g}{4M} \frac{1}{p^{0} - q_{n}^{0} - q_{n-1}^{0} - \frac{(q_{n} + q_{n-1})^{2}}{4M} + i\epsilon} (2\mathbf{q}_{n} + \mathbf{q}_{n-1}) \cdot \mathbf{A}(q_{n-1})\right] \\ \times \cdots \\ \times \left[\frac{-g}{4M} \frac{1}{p^{0} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} q_{j}^{0} - \frac{(\sum_{j=1}^{n} q_{j})^{2}}{4M} + i\epsilon} \left(2\sum_{j=2}^{n} \mathbf{q}_{j} + \mathbf{q}_{1}\right) \cdot \mathbf{A}(q_{1})\right].$$
(A.7)

Here \mathbf{R}_0 is the starting position of the octet field sitting on the left end of figure 2. We set $\mathbf{R}_0 = 0$ for simplicity for the moment and discuss the case with $\mathbf{R}_0 \neq 0$ later. (We can also keep t_0 in the phase where t_0 is the starting time of the octet field. But t_0 will become irrelevant in the following derivation.) Shifting $q_n \to q_n + p$ and applying the trick used in ref. [82], we find

$$\frac{1}{-4Mq_n^0 - \boldsymbol{q}_n^2 + i\epsilon} = -i\int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\lambda_n \exp\left\{i\lambda_n\left[-4Mq_n^0 - \boldsymbol{q}_n^2 + i\epsilon\right]\right\},\tag{A.8}$$

for the first propagator and a similar expression for a generic propagator

$$\frac{1}{-4M\sum_{j=1}^{n}q_{j}^{0} - (\sum_{j=1}^{n}\boldsymbol{q}_{j})^{2} + i\epsilon} = -i\int_{0}^{\infty} d\lambda_{1} \exp\left\{i\lambda_{1}\left[-4M\sum_{j=1}^{n}q_{j}^{0} - \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n}\boldsymbol{q}_{j}\right)^{2} + i\epsilon\right]\right\}.$$
(A.9)

Then the integral over q_m^0 can be thought of as a Fourier transform, with the conjugated time $4M \sum_{j=1}^m \lambda_j$, since the gluon lines are incoming with the phase defined by $e^{-iq \cdot x}$. In

the large mass limit, the conjugated time $4M \sum_{j=1}^{m} \lambda_j \to +\infty$, since the λ_j 's are positive. The octet field is outgoing in figure 2 so the diagram corresponds to final-state interactions in dissociation. If the octet field is incoming, as in recombination, a different sign will be obtained in the conjugated time, which leads to $-\infty$ in the large mass limit. After the Fourier transform in the large mass limit, the expression (A.7) becomes

$$\mathcal{M}_{n} = g^{n} \left[\prod_{j=1}^{n} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} q_{j}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \right] \left[\frac{\boldsymbol{q}_{n} \cdot \boldsymbol{A}(t = +\infty, \boldsymbol{q}_{n})}{(\boldsymbol{q}_{n})^{2} - i\epsilon} \right] \left[\frac{(2\boldsymbol{q}_{n} + \boldsymbol{q}_{n-1}) \cdot \boldsymbol{A}(t = +\infty, \boldsymbol{q}_{n-1})}{(\boldsymbol{q}_{n} + \boldsymbol{q}_{n-1})^{2} - i\epsilon} \right] \\ \times \dots \times \left[\frac{(2\sum_{j=2}^{n} \boldsymbol{q}_{j} + \boldsymbol{q}_{1}) \cdot \boldsymbol{A}(t = +\infty, \boldsymbol{q}_{1})}{(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \boldsymbol{q}_{j})^{2} - i\epsilon} \right].$$
(A.10)

Plugging the Fourier transform,

$$\boldsymbol{A}(t = +\infty, \boldsymbol{q}_m) = \int d^3 R_m \, e^{-i\boldsymbol{q}_m \cdot \boldsymbol{R}_m} \boldsymbol{A}(t = +\infty, \boldsymbol{R}_m) \,, \tag{A.11}$$

into (A.10) leads to

$$\mathcal{M}_{n} = g^{n} \bigg[\prod_{j=1}^{n} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} q_{j}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \,\mathrm{d}^{3} R_{j} \, e^{-i\boldsymbol{q}_{j} \cdot \boldsymbol{R}_{j}} \bigg] \bigg[\frac{\boldsymbol{q}_{n} \cdot \boldsymbol{A}(t = +\infty, \boldsymbol{R}_{n})}{(\boldsymbol{q}_{n})^{2} - i\epsilon} \bigg] \\ \times \bigg[\frac{2(\boldsymbol{q}_{n} + \boldsymbol{q}_{n-1}) \cdot \boldsymbol{A}(t = +\infty, \boldsymbol{R}_{n-1}) + i\nabla_{n-1} \cdot \boldsymbol{A}(t = +\infty, \boldsymbol{R}_{n-1})}{(\boldsymbol{q}_{n} + \boldsymbol{q}_{n-1})^{2} - i\epsilon} \bigg] \times \cdots \\ \times \bigg[\frac{2(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \boldsymbol{q}_{j}) \cdot \boldsymbol{A}(t = +\infty, \boldsymbol{R}_{1}) + i\nabla_{1} \cdot \boldsymbol{A}(t = +\infty, \boldsymbol{R}_{1})}{(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \boldsymbol{q}_{j})^{2} - i\epsilon} \bigg].$$
(A.12)

One can show

$$\prod_{j=1}^{n} e^{-iq_{j} \cdot R_{j}} = e^{-iq_{n} \cdot (R_{n} - R_{n-1})} e^{-i(q_{n} + q_{n-1}) \cdot (R_{n-1} - R_{n-2})} \times \cdots \times e^{-i(\sum_{j=2}^{n} q_{j}) \cdot (R_{2} - R_{1})} e^{-i(\sum_{j=1}^{n} q_{j}) \cdot R_{1}}.$$
(A.13)

Then we can do a change of variables, $k_m = \sum_{j=m}^n q_j$ to simplify the momentum integrals:

$$\mathcal{M}_{n} = g^{n} \bigg[\prod_{j=1}^{n} \int d^{3}R_{j} \bigg] \bigg[\mathbf{A}(t = +\infty, \mathbf{R}_{n}) \cdot i\nabla_{n} \int \frac{d^{3}k_{n}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{e^{-i\mathbf{k}_{n} \cdot (\mathbf{R}_{n} - \mathbf{R}_{n-1})}{\mathbf{k}_{n}^{2} - i\epsilon} \bigg] \\ \times \bigg[2\mathbf{A}(t = +\infty, \mathbf{R}_{n-1}) \cdot i\nabla_{n-1} \int \frac{d^{3}k_{n-1}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{e^{-i\mathbf{k}_{n-1} \cdot (\mathbf{R}_{n-1} - \mathbf{R}_{n-2})}{\mathbf{k}_{n-1}^{2} - i\epsilon} \\ + \int \frac{d^{3}k_{n-1}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{e^{-i\mathbf{k}_{n-1} \cdot (\mathbf{R}_{n-1} - \mathbf{R}_{n-2})}{\mathbf{k}_{n-1}^{2} - i\epsilon} i\nabla_{n-1} \cdot \mathbf{A}(t = +\infty, \mathbf{R}_{n-1}) \bigg] \times \cdots \\ \times \bigg[2\mathbf{A}(t = +\infty, \mathbf{R}_{1}) \cdot i\nabla_{1} \int \frac{d^{3}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{e^{-i\mathbf{k}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{R}_{1}}}{\mathbf{k}_{1}^{2} - i\epsilon} \\ + \int \frac{d^{3}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{e^{-i\mathbf{k}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{R}_{1}}}{\mathbf{k}_{1}^{2} - i\epsilon} i\nabla_{1} \cdot \mathbf{A}(t = +\infty, \mathbf{R}_{1}) \bigg] .$$
(A.14)

Using the standard integral in the derivation of Coulomb potential from the propagator, we find

$$\mathcal{M}_{n} = (ig)^{n} \left[\prod_{j=1}^{n} \int \mathrm{d}^{3} R_{j} \right] \left[\mathbf{A}(t = +\infty, \mathbf{R}_{n}) \cdot \nabla_{n} \frac{1}{4\pi |\mathbf{R}_{n} - \mathbf{R}_{n-1}|} \right]$$

$$\times \left[2\mathbf{A}(t = +\infty, \mathbf{R}_{n-1}) \cdot \nabla_{n-1} \frac{1}{4\pi |\mathbf{R}_{n-1} - \mathbf{R}_{n-2}|} + \frac{1}{4\pi |\mathbf{R}_{n-1} - \mathbf{R}_{n-2}|} \nabla_{n-1} \cdot \mathbf{A}(t = +\infty, \mathbf{R}_{n-1}) \right] \times \cdots$$

$$\times \left[2\mathbf{A}(t = +\infty, \mathbf{R}_{1}) \cdot \nabla_{1} \frac{1}{4\pi |\mathbf{R}_{1}|} + \frac{1}{4\pi |\mathbf{R}_{1}|} \nabla_{1} \cdot \mathbf{A}(t = +\infty, \mathbf{R}_{1}) \right]. \quad (A.15)$$

At time $t = +\infty$, the gauge field is a pure gauge:⁶

$$\boldsymbol{A}(t = +\infty, \boldsymbol{R}_m) = \nabla_m \phi(\boldsymbol{R}_m) \,. \tag{A.16}$$

The term with $A(\mathbf{R}_n)$ integrated over \mathbf{R}_n can be written as (we use integration by parts)

$$ig \int d^3 R_n [\nabla_n \phi(\mathbf{R}_n)] \nabla_n \frac{1}{4\pi |\mathbf{R}_n - \mathbf{R}_{n-1}|} = ig \,\phi(\mathbf{R}_{n-1}) \,. \tag{A.17}$$

Now we keep the term with $A(\mathbf{R}_n)$ and the term with $A(\mathbf{R}_{n-1})$, then after the integration over \mathbf{R}_n , we find

$$(ig)^{2} \int d^{3}R_{n-1} \left[2\phi(\mathbf{R}_{n-1})\mathbf{A}(t = +\infty, \mathbf{R}_{n-1}) \cdot \nabla_{n-1} \frac{1}{4\pi |\mathbf{R}_{n-1} - \mathbf{R}_{n-2}|} + \phi(\mathbf{R}_{n-1}) \frac{1}{4\pi |\mathbf{R}_{n-1} - \mathbf{R}_{n-2}|} \nabla_{n-1} \cdot \mathbf{A}(t = +\infty, \mathbf{R}_{n-1}) \right] \\ = (ig)^{2} \int d^{3}R_{n-1} \left[\phi(\mathbf{R}_{n-1})\mathbf{A}(t = +\infty, \mathbf{R}_{n-1}) \cdot \nabla_{n-1} \frac{1}{4\pi |\mathbf{R}_{n-1} - \mathbf{R}_{n-2}|} - \nabla_{n-1}\phi(\mathbf{R}_{n-1}) \frac{1}{4\pi |\mathbf{R}_{n-1} - \mathbf{R}_{n-2}|} \cdot \mathbf{A}(t = +\infty, \mathbf{R}_{n-1}) \right] \\ = (ig)^{2} \int d^{3}R_{n-1}\phi(\mathbf{R}_{n-1}) \left[\nabla_{n-1}\phi(\mathbf{R}_{n-1}) \right] \cdot \nabla_{n-1} \frac{1}{4\pi |\mathbf{R}_{n-1} - \mathbf{R}_{n-2}|} - (ig)^{2} \int d^{3}R_{n-1} \frac{\mathbf{A}^{2}(t = +\infty, \mathbf{R}_{n-1})}{4\pi |\mathbf{R}_{n-1} - \mathbf{R}_{n-2}|} \\ = \frac{(ig)^{2}}{2} \phi^{2}(\mathbf{R}_{n-2}) - (ig)^{2} \int d^{3}R_{n-1} \frac{\mathbf{A}^{2}(t = +\infty, \mathbf{R}_{n-1})}{4\pi |\mathbf{R}_{n-1} - \mathbf{R}_{n-2}|}, \quad (A.18)$$

where we have used $\phi(\mathbf{R}_{n-1})\nabla_{n-1}\phi(\mathbf{R}_{n-1}) = \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{n-1}\phi^2(\mathbf{R}_{n-1})$. As we will show later, the term $(ig\phi)^2/2$ contributes to the Wilson line structure we are seeking for. The second term in (A.18) will be cancelled exactly by the interaction term quadratic in \mathbf{A} . No analogous

⁶This follows from ref. [82]. A pure gauge field is given by $A^{\mu}(x) = \frac{i}{g}U(x)\partial^{\mu}U^{\dagger}(x)$ where U(x) is a gauge transformation. We consider a gauge transformation that is a perturbation of the identity: $U(x) \approx 1 + ig\phi^{\dagger}(x)$ where $\phi^{\dagger}(x)$ is group valued.



Figure 3. Feynman diagram contributing to the gauge link at infinite time, similar to figure 2 except that the rightmost two gauge fields originate from the interaction term quadratic in A.

cancellation appears in the derivation of ref. [82]. The relevant diagram is shown in figure 3. By similar calculations as above, one can show the contribution to the amplitude from the part on the left of the q_{n-2} gluon line in the diagram is the same. The diagram in figure 3 gives:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \prod_{j=1}^{n} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{4}q_{j}}{(2\pi)^{4}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{-ig^{2}}{4M} \frac{i}{p^{0} - q_{n}^{0} - q_{n-1}^{0} - \frac{(q_{n} + q_{n-1})^{2}}{4M} + i\epsilon} \mathbf{A}(q_{n}) \cdot \mathbf{A}(q_{n-1}) \end{bmatrix} \\ \times \begin{bmatrix} \frac{-g}{4M} \frac{1}{p^{0} - q_{n}^{0} - q_{n-1}^{0} - q_{n-2}^{0} - \frac{(q_{n} + q_{n-1} + q_{n-2})^{2}}{4M} + i\epsilon} (2q_{n} + 2q_{n-1} + q_{n-2}) \cdot \mathbf{A}(q_{n-2}) \end{bmatrix} \\ \times \cdots \times \begin{bmatrix} \frac{-g}{4M} \frac{1}{p^{0} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} q_{j}^{0} - \frac{(\sum_{j=1}^{n} q_{j})^{2}}{4M} + i\epsilon} (2\sum_{j=2}^{n} q_{j} + q_{1}) \cdot \mathbf{A}(q_{1}) \end{bmatrix} \\ = \begin{bmatrix} -g^{2} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}q_{n}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}q_{n-1}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{1}{(q_{n} + q_{n-1})^{2} - i\epsilon} \mathbf{A}(t = +\infty, q_{n}) \cdot \mathbf{A}(t = +\infty, q_{n-1}) \end{bmatrix} \\ \times \begin{bmatrix} \prod_{j=1}^{n-2} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}q_{j}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} g \frac{(2q_{n} + 2q_{n-1} + q_{n-2}) \cdot \mathbf{A}(t = +\infty, q_{n-2})}{(q_{n} + q_{n-1} + q_{n-2})^{2} - i\epsilon} \end{bmatrix} \\ \times \cdots \times \begin{bmatrix} g \frac{(2\sum_{j=2}^{n} q_{j} + q_{1}) \cdot \mathbf{A}(t = +\infty, q_{1})}{(\sum_{j=1}^{n} q_{j})^{2} - i\epsilon} \end{bmatrix}$$
(A.19)

Plugging the Fourier transform (A.11), doing a change of variables, $\mathbf{k}_m = \sum_{j=m}^n \mathbf{q}_j$ as done above and using (A.13) we find the term in the third to last line of (A.19) leads to

$$-g^{2} \int \mathrm{d}^{3} R_{n-1} \frac{\boldsymbol{A}^{2}(t=+\infty, \boldsymbol{R}_{n-1})}{4\pi |\boldsymbol{R}_{n-1} - \boldsymbol{R}_{n-2}|}, \qquad (A.20)$$

which cancels the second term in (A.18) exactly.

Repeating the same procedure, one can show the n-th order (in g) diagram contributes

$$\frac{(ig)^n}{n!}\phi^n(\boldsymbol{R}=0)\,,\tag{A.21}$$

where the position is set to the origin since the last delta function obtained by the above procedure is simply $\delta^3(\mathbf{R}_1)$.

From (A.16), we find

$$\phi(\boldsymbol{R}=0) = -\int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{R} \cdot \boldsymbol{A}(t=+\infty,\boldsymbol{R}), \qquad (A.22)$$

where we have used $\phi(\mathbf{R} = \infty) = 0$. Using

$$\nabla_{\boldsymbol{R}}\phi^{n}(\boldsymbol{R}) = n\,\phi^{n-1}(\boldsymbol{R})\,\nabla_{\boldsymbol{R}}\phi(\boldsymbol{R})\,,\tag{A.23}$$

we can show

$$\frac{1}{n!}\phi^{n}(\boldsymbol{R}=0) = (-1)^{n} \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{R}_{1} \cdot \boldsymbol{A}(t=+\infty,\boldsymbol{R}_{1}) \int_{0}^{\boldsymbol{R}_{1}} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{R}_{2} \cdot \boldsymbol{A}(t=+\infty,\boldsymbol{R}_{2}) \cdots \\ \times \int_{0}^{\boldsymbol{R}_{n-1}} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{R}_{n} \cdot \boldsymbol{A}(t=+\infty,\boldsymbol{R}_{n}) \,.$$
(A.24)

Summing over n leads to

$$\sum_{n} \frac{(ig)^{n}}{n!} \phi^{n}(0) = \mathcal{P} \exp\left(-ig \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{R} \cdot \boldsymbol{A}(t=+\infty,\boldsymbol{R})\right).$$
(A.25)

The negative sign with respect to (2.3) is due to the signature of the Lorentz metric.

In this derivation we chose $\mathbf{R}_0 = 0$ and thus the Wilson line starts at $\mathbf{R}_0 = 0$. For a nonvanishing \mathbf{R}_0 , we need to restore the factor

$$\exp\left(i\sum_{j=1}^{n}\boldsymbol{q}_{j}\cdot\boldsymbol{R}_{0}\right),\tag{A.26}$$

in (A.7). Then the last delta function will become $\delta^3(\mathbf{R}_1 - \mathbf{R}_0)$ and the Wilson line will start at \mathbf{R}_0 .

The gauge link in the amplitude starts from the spatial position of the octet field and extend to spatial infinity. In the complex conjugate of the amplitude, the gauge link comes from the spatial infinity and stops at the spatial position of the other octet field. This leads to the Wilson lines at infinite time shown in figure 1.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- T. Matsui and H. Satz, J/ψ suppression by quark-gluon plasma formation, Phys. Lett. B 178 (1986) 416 [INSPIRE].
- [2] F. Karsch, M.T. Mehr and H. Satz, Color screening and deconfinement for bound states of heavy quarks, Z. Phys. C 37 (1988) 617 [INSPIRE].
- [3] M. Laine, O. Philipsen, P. Romatschke and M. Tassler, *Real-time static potential in hot QCD*, JHEP 03 (2007) 054 [hep-ph/0611300] [INSPIRE].

- [4] A. Beraudo, J.P. Blaizot and C. Ratti, Real and imaginary-time QQ correlators in a thermal medium, Nucl. Phys. A 806 (2008) 312 [arXiv:0712.4394] [INSPIRE].
- [5] R.L. Thews, M. Schroedter and J. Rafelski, Enhanced J/ψ production in deconfined quark matter, Phys. Rev. C 63 (2001) 054905 [hep-ph/0007323] [INSPIRE].
- [6] L. Grandchamp, R. Rapp and G.E. Brown, In medium effects on charmonium production in heavy ion collisions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 92 (2004) 212301 [hep-ph/0306077] [INSPIRE].
- [7] L. Grandchamp, S. Lumpkins, D. Sun, H. van Hees and R. Rapp, Bottomonium production at RHIC and CERN LHC, Phys. Rev. C 73 (2006) 064906 [hep-ph/0507314] [INSPIRE].
- [8] L. Yan, P. Zhuang and N. Xu, Competition between J/ψ suppression and regeneration in quark-gluon plasma, Phys. Rev. Lett. **97** (2006) 232301 [nucl-th/0608010] [INSPIRE].
- [9] Y.-p. Liu, Z. Qu, N. Xu and P.-f. Zhuang, J/ψ transverse momentum distribution in high energy nuclear collisions at RHIC, Phys. Lett. B 678 (2009) 72 [arXiv:0901.2757]
 [INSPIRE].
- [10] T. Song, K.C. Han and C.M. Ko, Charmonium production in relativistic heavy-ion collisions, Phys. Rev. C 84 (2011) 034907 [arXiv:1103.6197] [INSPIRE].
- T. Song, K.C. Han and C.M. Ko, Bottomonia suppression in heavy-ion collisions, Phys. Rev. C 85 (2012) 014902 [arXiv:1109.6691] [INSPIRE].
- [12] R. Sharma and I. Vitev, High transverse momentum quarkonium production and dissociation in heavy ion collisions, Phys. Rev. C 87 (2013) 044905 [arXiv:1203.0329] [INSPIRE].
- [13] F. Nendzig and G. Wolschin, Bottomium suppression in Pb-Pb collisions at LHC energies, J. Phys. G 41 (2014) 095003 [arXiv:1406.5103] [INSPIRE].
- [14] B. Krouppa, R. Ryblewski and M. Strickland, Bottomonia suppression in 2.76 TeV Pb-Pb collisions, Phys. Rev. C 92 (2015) 061901 [arXiv:1507.03951] [INSPIRE].
- B. Chen and J. Zhao, Bottomonium continuous production from unequilibrium bottom quarks in ultrarelativistic heavy ion collisions, Phys. Lett. B 772 (2017) 819 [arXiv:1704.05622]
 [INSPIRE].
- [16] J. Zhao and B. Chen, Strong diffusion effect of charm quarks on J /ψ production in Pb-Pb collisions at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 776 (2018) 17 [arXiv:1705.04558] [INSPIRE].
- [17] X. Du, R. Rapp and M. He, Color screening and regeneration of bottomonia in high-energy heavy-ion collisions, Phys. Rev. C 96 (2017) 054901 [arXiv:1706.08670] [INSPIRE].
- [18] S. Aronson, E. Borras, B. Odegard, R. Sharma and I. Vitev, Collisional and thermal dissociation of J/ψ and Υ states at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 778 (2018) 384 [arXiv:1709.02372] [INSPIRE].
- [19] E.G. Ferreiro and J.-P. Lansberg, Is bottomonium suppression in proton-nucleus and nucleus-nucleus collisions at LHC energies due to the same effects?, JHEP 10 (2018) 094
 [Erratum ibid. 03 (2019) 063] [arXiv:1804.04474] [INSPIRE].
- [20] X. Yao, W. Ke, Y. Xu, S. Bass and B. Müller, Quarkonium production in heavy ion collisions: coupled Boltzmann transport equations, Nucl. Phys. A 982 (2019) 755
 [arXiv:1807.06199] [INSPIRE].
- [21] A. Andronic, P. Braun-Munzinger, K. Redlich and J. Stachel, Evidence for charmonium generation at the phase boundary in ultra-relativistic nuclear collisions, Phys. Lett. B 652 (2007) 259 [nucl-th/0701079] [INSPIRE].

- [22] A. Andronic, P. Braun-Munzinger, K. Redlich and J. Stachel, Charmonium and open charm production in nuclear collisions at SPS/FAIR energies and the possible influence of a hot hadronic medium, Phys. Lett. B 659 (2008) 149 [arXiv:0708.1488] [INSPIRE].
- [23] A. Dumitru, Y. Guo and M. Strickland, The heavy-quark potential in an anisotropic (viscous) plasma, Phys. Lett. B 662 (2008) 37 [arXiv:0711.4722] [INSPIRE].
- [24] A. Dumitru, Y. Guo and M. Strickland, The Imaginary part of the static gluon propagator in an anisotropic (viscous) QCD plasma, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 114003 [arXiv:0903.4703]
 [INSPIRE].
- [25] P.P. Bhaduri, M. Alqahtani, N. Borghini, A. Jaiswal and M. Strickland, Fireball tomography from bottomonia elliptic flow in relativistic heavy-ion collisions, arXiv:2007.03939 [INSPIRE].
- [26] X. Yao and T. Mehen, Quarkonium in-medium transport equation derived from first principles, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 096028 [arXiv:1811.07027] [INSPIRE].
- [27] U.A. Wiedemann, Jet quenching in heavy ion collisions, Landolt-Bornstein 23 (2010) 521
 [arXiv:0908.2306] [INSPIRE].
- [28] G.-Y. Qin and X.-N. Wang, Jet quenching in high-energy heavy-ion collisions, Int. J. Mod. Phys. E 24 (2015) 1530014 [arXiv:1511.00790] [INSPIRE].
- [29] U. Heinz and R. Snellings, Collective flow and viscosity in relativistic heavy-ion collisions, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 63 (2013) 123 [arXiv:1301.2826] [INSPIRE].
- [30] C. Gale, S. Jeon and B. Schenke, Hydrodynamic modeling of heavy-ion collisions, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 28 (2013) 1340011 [arXiv:1301.5893] [INSPIRE].
- [31] J.C. Collins, D.E. Soper and G.F. Sterman, Factorization of hard processes in QCD, Adv. Ser. Direct. High Energy Phys. 5 (1989) 1 [hep-ph/0409313] [INSPIRE].
- [32] C.W. Bauer, S. Fleming, D. Pirjol and I.W. Stewart, An effective field theory for collinear and soft gluons: heavy to light decays, Phys. Rev. D 63 (2001) 114020 [hep-ph/0011336] [INSPIRE].
- [33] C.W. Bauer, D. Pirjol and I.W. Stewart, Soft collinear factorization in effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 65 (2002) 054022 [hep-ph/0109045] [INSPIRE].
- [34] C.W. Bauer, S. Fleming, D. Pirjol, I.Z. Rothstein and I.W. Stewart, Hard scattering factorization from effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002) 014017 [hep-ph/0202088]
 [INSPIRE].
- [35] A.V. Manohar and I.W. Stewart, The zero-bin and mode factorization in quantum field theory, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 074002 [hep-ph/0605001] [INSPIRE].
- [36] S. Fleming, A.H. Hoang, S. Mantry and I.W. Stewart, Top jets in the peak region: factorization analysis with NLL resummation, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 114003
 [arXiv:0711.2079] [INSPIRE].
- [37] Y.-T. Chien, A. Hornig and C. Lee, Soft-collinear mode for jet cross sections in soft collinear effective theory, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 014033 [arXiv:1509.04287] [INSPIRE].
- [38] I.Z. Rothstein and I.W. Stewart, An effective field theory for forward scattering and factorization violation, JHEP 08 (2016) 025 [arXiv:1601.04695] [INSPIRE].
- [39] C. Frye, A.J. Larkoski, M.D. Schwartz and K. Yan, Factorization for groomed jet substructure beyond the next-to-leading logarithm, JHEP 07 (2016) 064 [arXiv:1603.09338] [INSPIRE].

- [40] Y. Makris, D. Neill and V. Vaidya, Probing transverse-momentum dependent evolution with groomed jets, JHEP 07 (2018) 167 [arXiv:1712.07653] [INSPIRE].
- [41] D. Gutierrez-Reyes, Y. Makris, V. Vaidya, I. Scimemi and L. Zoppi, Probing transverse-momentum distributions with groomed jets, JHEP 08 (2019) 161 [arXiv:1907.05896] [INSPIRE].
- [42] Y.-T. Chien and I.W. Stewart, Collinear drop, JHEP 06 (2020) 064 [arXiv:1907.11107] [INSPIRE].
- [43] N. Brambilla, A. Pineda, J. Soto and A. Vairo, Potential NRQCD: an effective theory for heavy quarkonium, Nucl. Phys. B 566 (2000) 275 [hep-ph/9907240] [INSPIRE].
- [44] N. Brambilla, A. Pineda, J. Soto and A. Vairo, Effective field theories for heavy quarkonium, Rev. Mod. Phys. 77 (2005) 1423 [hep-ph/0410047] [INSPIRE].
- [45] S. Fleming and T. Mehen, Doubly heavy baryons, heavy quark-diquark symmetry and NRQCD, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 034502 [hep-ph/0509313] [INSPIRE].
- [46] N. Brambilla, J. Ghiglieri, A. Vairo and P. Petreczky, Static quark-antiquark pairs at finite temperature, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 014017 [arXiv:0804.0993] [INSPIRE].
- [47] N. Brambilla, M.A. Escobedo, J. Ghiglieri and A. Vairo, Thermal width and gluo-dissociation of quarkonium in pNRQCD, JHEP 12 (2011) 116 [arXiv:1109.5826] [INSPIRE].
- [48] N. Brambilla, M.A. Escobedo, J. Ghiglieri and A. Vairo, Thermal width and quarkonium dissociation by inelastic parton scattering, JHEP 05 (2013) 130 [arXiv:1303.6097] [INSPIRE].
- [49] N. Brambilla, M.A. Escobedo, A. Vairo and P. Vander Griend, Transport coefficients from in medium quarkonium dynamics, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 054025 [arXiv:1903.08063]
 [INSPIRE].
- [50] Y. Makris and I. Vitev, An effective theory of quarkonia in QCD matter, JHEP 10 (2019) 111 [arXiv:1906.04186] [INSPIRE].
- [51] S. Fleming, Y. Makris and T. Mehen, An effective field theory approach to quarkonium at small transverse momentum, JHEP 04 (2020) 122 [arXiv:1910.03586] [INSPIRE].
- [52] C. Young and K. Dusling, Quarkonium above deconfinement as an open quantum system, Phys. Rev. C 87 (2013) 065206 [arXiv:1001.0935] [INSPIRE].
- [53] N. Borghini and C. Gombeaud, Heavy quarkonia in a medium as a quantum dissipative system: master equation approach, Eur. Phys. J. C 72 (2012) 2000 [arXiv:1109.4271]
 [INSPIRE].
- [54] Y. Akamatsu and A. Rothkopf, Stochastic potential and quantum decoherence of heavy quarkonium in the quark-gluon plasma, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 105011 [arXiv:1110.1203]
 [INSPIRE].
- [55] Y. Akamatsu, Heavy quark master equations in the Lindblad form at high temperatures, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 056002 [arXiv:1403.5783] [INSPIRE].
- [56] J.-P. Blaizot, D. De Boni, P. Faccioli and G. Garberoglio, Heavy quark bound states in a quark-gluon plasma: Dissociation and recombination, Nucl. Phys. A 946 (2016) 49 [arXiv:1503.03857] [INSPIRE].
- [57] R. Katz and P.B. Gossiaux, The Schrödinger-Langevin equation with and without thermal fluctuations, Annals Phys. 368 (2016) 267 [arXiv:1504.08087] [INSPIRE].

- [58] N. Brambilla, M.A. Escobedo, J. Soto and A. Vairo, Quarkonium suppression in heavy-ion collisions: an open quantum system approach, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 034021
 [arXiv:1612.07248] [INSPIRE].
- [59] N. Brambilla, M.A. Escobedo, J. Soto and A. Vairo, *Heavy quarkonium suppression in a fireball*, *Phys. Rev. D* 97 (2018) 074009 [arXiv:1711.04515] [INSPIRE].
- [60] S. Kajimoto, Y. Akamatsu, M. Asakawa and A. Rothkopf, Dynamical dissociation of quarkonia by wave function decoherence, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 014003 [arXiv:1705.03365] [INSPIRE].
- [61] D. De Boni, Fate of in-medium heavy quarks via a Lindblad equation, JHEP 08 (2017) 064 [arXiv:1705.03567] [INSPIRE].
- [62] J.-P. Blaizot and M.A. Escobedo, Quantum and classical dynamics of heavy quarks in a quark-gluon plasma, JHEP 06 (2018) 034 [arXiv:1711.10812] [INSPIRE].
- [63] J.-P. Blaizot and M.A. Escobedo, Approach to equilibrium of a quarkonium in a quark-gluon plasma, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 074007 [arXiv:1803.07996] [INSPIRE].
- [64] Y. Akamatsu, M. Asakawa, S. Kajimoto and A. Rothkopf, Quantum dissipation of a heavy quark from a nonlinear stochastic Schrödinger equation, JHEP 07 (2018) 029 [arXiv:1805.00167] [INSPIRE].
- [65] T. Miura, Y. Akamatsu, M. Asakawa and A. Rothkopf, Quantum Brownian motion of a heavy quark pair in the quark-gluon plasma, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 034011 [arXiv:1908.06293] [INSPIRE].
- [66] P. Petreczky, C. Miao and A. Mócsy, Quarkonium spectral functions with complex potential, Nucl. Phys. A 855 (2011) 125 [arXiv:1012.4433] [INSPIRE].
- [67] A. Islam and M. Strickland, Bottomonium suppression and elliptic flow from real-time quantum evolution, Phys. Lett. B 811 (2020) 135949 [arXiv:2007.10211] [INSPIRE].
- [68] X. Yao, W. Ke, Y. Xu, S.A. Bass and B. Müller, Coupled Boltzmann transport equations of heavy quarks and quarkonia in quark-gluon plasma, JHEP 01 (2021) 046 [arXiv:2004.06746] [INSPIRE].
- [69] J. Casalderrey-Solana and D. Teaney, Heavy quark diffusion in strongly coupled N = 4 Yang-Mills, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 085012 [hep-ph/0605199] [INSPIRE].
- [70] S. Caron-Huot and G.D. Moore, Heavy quark diffusion in QCD and N = 4 SYM at next-to-leading order, JHEP 02 (2008) 081 [arXiv:0801.2173] [INSPIRE].
- [71] N. Brambilla, V. Leino, P. Petreczky and A. Vairo, Lattice QCD constraints on the heavy quark diffusion coefficient, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 074503 [arXiv:2007.10078] [INSPIRE].
- [72] G.T. Bodwin, E. Braaten and G.P. Lepage, Rigorous QCD analysis of inclusive annihilation and production of heavy quarkonium, Phys. Rev. D 51 (1995) 1125 [Erratum ibid. 55 (1997) 5853] [hep-ph/9407339] [INSPIRE].
- [73] C.M. Arnesen, J. Kundu and I.W. Stewart, Constraint equations for heavy-to-light currents in SCET, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 114002 [hep-ph/0508214] [INSPIRE].
- [74] H. Haug and A.-P. Jauho, Quantum kinetics in transport and optics of semiconductors, volume 2, Springer, Germany (2008).
- [75] X. Yao and B. Müller, Doubly charmed baryon production in heavy ion collisions, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 074003 [arXiv:1801.02652] [INSPIRE].

- [76] X. Yao and B. Müller, Quarkonium inside the quark-gluon plasma: Diffusion, dissociation, recombination, and energy loss, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 014008 [arXiv:1811.09644]
 [INSPIRE].
- [77] A. Rothkopf, T. Hatsuda and S. Sasaki, Complex heavy-quark potential at finite temperature from lattice QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108 (2012) 162001 [arXiv:1108.1579] [INSPIRE].
- [78] R. Larsen, S. Meinel, S. Mukherjee and P. Petreczky, Thermal broadening of bottomonia: Lattice nonrelativistic QCD with extended operators, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 074506 [arXiv:1908.08437] [INSPIRE].
- [79] R. Larsen, S. Meinel, S. Mukherjee and P. Petreczky, Excited bottomonia in quark-gluon plasma from lattice QCD, Phys. Lett. B 800 (2020) 135119 [arXiv:1910.07374].
- [80] R. Larsen, S. Meinel, S. Mukherjee and P. Petreczky, Bethe-Salpeter amplitudes of Upsilons, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 114508 [arXiv:2008.00100] [INSPIRE].
- [81] A. Pineda and J. Soto, The renormalization group improvement of the QCD static potentials, Phys. Lett. B 495 (2000) 323 [hep-ph/0007197] [INSPIRE].
- [82] A.V. Belitsky, X. Ji and F. Yuan, Final state interactions and gauge invariant parton distributions, Nucl. Phys. B 656 (2003) 165 [hep-ph/0208038] [INSPIRE].